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A REVIEW OF THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

Summary and invitation to comment

Why is the IASB issuing this Discussion Paper?

The Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (the ‘Conceptual Framework’) sets out the
concepts that underlie the preparation and presentation of financial statements. The IASB’s
preliminary view is that the primary purpose of the Conceptual Framework is to assist the IASB
by identifying concepts that it will use consistently when developing and revising IFRSs.

Although the existing Conceptual Framework has helped the IASB when developing and
revising IFRSs, the IASB has identified a number of problems with the existing Conceptual
Framework:

(a) important areas are not covered. For example, the existing Conceptual Framework
provides very little guidance on measurement, presentation, disclosure or how to
identify a reporting entity.

(b) the guidance in some areas is unclear. For example, the existing definitions of
assets and liabilities could be improved.

(c) some aspects of the existing Conceptual Framework are out of date and fail to reflect
the current thinking of the IASB. For example, the existing Conceptual Framework
states that an asset or a liability should be recognised only if it is probable that there
will be a flow of economic resources. However, the IASB has concluded in some
situations that recognising an asset or a liability would provide useful information
even when a flow of economic resources is not probable.

In 2011, the IASB carried out a public consultation on its agenda. Most respondents to that
consultation identified the Conceptual Framework as a priority project for the IASB.
Consequently, the IASB decided to restart its Conceptual Framework project, which had been
suspended in 2010.

This Discussion Paper is the first step towards issuing a revised Conceptual Framework. It is
designed to obtain initial views and comments on a number of matters, and focuses on
areas that have caused the IASB problems in practice. Consequently, this Discussion Paper
does not cover all the issues that the IASB would expect to cover in an Exposure Draft of the
Conceptual Framework. The Discussion Paper sets out the IASB’s preliminary views on some of
the topics discussed. However, the IASB has not reached preliminary views on all of the
issues discussed in this Discussion Paper.

Who will be affected by the proposals in this Discussion Paper?

The primary purpose of the Conceptual Framework is to assist the IASB by identifying concepts
that can be used consistently when developing and revising IFRSs (see Section 1). The
Conceptual Framework may also assist parties other than the IASB to:

(a) understand and interpret existing IFRSs; and

(b) develop accounting policies when no Standard or Interpretation specifically applies
to a particular transaction or event.

The Conceptual Framework is not a Standard or Interpretation and does not override the
requirements of any Standard or Interpretation. However, the Conceptual Framework will
have a significant influence in the development of new and revised Standards.
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Once the IASB finalises the revised Conceptual Framework, it will start using it immediately.
However, a revised Conceptual Framework will not necessarily lead to changes to existing
IFRSs. Any proposal to change an existing Standard or Interpretation would need to go
through the IASB’s normal due process (including a formal decision to add the project to
the IASB’s agenda).

What does this Discussion Paper include?

This Discussion Paper suggests that the IASB should make the following significant changes
to the existing Conceptual Framework:

(a) a revised statement of the primary purpose of the Conceptual Framework;

(b) revised definitions of assets and liabilities;

() additional guidance on applying the definitions of assets and liabilities;

(d) revised guidance on when assets and liabilities should be recognised;

(e) new guidance on when assets and liabilities should be derecognised;

() a new way to present information about equity claims against the reporting entity;
(g) a new section on the concepts that should guide the IASB when it selects

measurements in a new or revised Standard or Interpretation;
(h) a new section on presentation and disclosure; and
(1) principles for distinguishing profit or loss from other comprehensive income (OCI).

The following paragraphs summarise each section of this Discussion Paper. A high-level
overview of the topics to be covered in the Conceptual Framework is provided in Appendix G.

Section 1—Introduction

Section 1:

(a) describes the history of the Conceptual Framework project;

(b) describes the development and scope of this Discussion Paper;

() explains how the proposals in this Discussion Paper will affect existing practice and

the use of examples in this Discussion Paper;
(d) outlines the purpose and status of the Conceptual Framework; and

(e) summarises the objective of financial reporting and the qualitative characteristics of
useful financial information as described in Chapters 1 and 3 of the existing
Conceptual Framework and explains how they have affected the development of this
Discussion Paper.

The IASB’s preliminary views on the purpose and status of the Conceptual Framework are as
follows:

(a) the primary purpose of the revised Conceptual Framework is to assist the IASB by
identifying concepts that the IASB will use consistently when developing and
revising IFRSs.

(b) the Conceptual Framework may also assist parties other than the IASB to:

(1) understand and interpret existing IFRSs; and

© IFRS Foundation 6
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(i) develop accounting policies when no Standard or Interpretation specifically
applies to a particular transaction or event.

(€) the Conceptual Framework is not a Standard or Interpretation and does not override
any specific Standard or Interpretation.

(d) in rare cases, in order to meet the overall objective of financial reporting, the IASB
may decide to issue a new or revised Standard that conflicts with an aspect of the
Conceptual Framework. In such cases, the IASB would describe the departure from that
aspect of the Conceptual Framework, and the reasons for it, in the Basis for Conclusions
on that Standard.

Section 2—Elements of financial statements

The definitions of assets and liabilities are discussed in Section 2.

Definitions of assets and liabilities

The existing definitions of assets and liabilities have proved over many years to be useful
tools for solving many issues in standard-setting. They focus on economic phenomena that
exist in the real world (resources and obligations), that are relevant to users of financial
statements and that are understandable.

Nevertheless, the IASB believes that the definitions could be clarified. They contain
references to expected inflows or outflows of economic benefits. Some have interpreted
these references as implying that the asset or the liability is the ultimate inflow or outflow
of economic benefits, rather than the underlying resource or obligation. To avoid
misunderstandings, the IASB’s preliminary view is that it should amend the definitions to
confirm more explicitly that:

(a) an asset (or a liability) is the underlying resource (or obligation), rather than the
ultimate inflow (or outflow) of economic benefits; and

(b) an asset (or a liability) must be capable of generating inflows (or outflows) of
economic benefits. Those inflows (or outflows) need not be certain.

The IASB proposes the following definitions:

(a) an asset is a present economic resource controlled by the entity as a result of past
events.
(b) a liability is a present obligation of the entity to transfer an economic resource as a

result of past events.

() an economic resource is a right, or other source of value, that is capable of
producing economic benefits.

Uncertainty

This section also discusses whether uncertainty should play any role in the definitions of,
and the recognition criteria for, assets and liabilities. The IASB’s preliminary views are:

(@) the definitions of assets and liabilities should not retain the notion that an inflow or
outflow is ‘expected’. An asset must be capable of producing economic benefits. A
liability must be capable of resulting in a transfer of economic resources.

7 © |FRS Foundation
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(b) the Conceptual Framework should not set a probability threshold for the rare cases in
which it is uncertain whether an asset or a liability exists. If there could be
significant uncertainty about whether a particular type of asset or liability exists,
the IASB would decide how to deal with that uncertainty when it develops or revises
a Standard on that type of asset or liability.

(c) the recognition criteria should not retain the existing reference to probability.

Other elements

This section also briefly discusses how to define the main building blocks (elements) for the
statement(s) of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (income and expense), the
statement of cash flows (cash receipts and cash payments) and the statement of changes in
equity (contributions to equity, distributions of equity, and transfers between classes of

equity).

Section 3—Additional guidance to support the asset and liability
definitions

Section 3 considers areas in which the IASB could add further guidance to the Conceptual
Framework to support the revised definitions of an asset and a liability.

There are three reasons for adding more guidance on those definitions:

(a) Section 2 proposes changes to aspects of the definitions of an asset and a liability.
Further guidance would help to explain the terms that are used within those
proposed definitions.

(b) some aspects of the existing definition of a liability are unclear: there is little
guidance in the Conceptual Framework and the principles underlying different
Standards can appear inconsistent. As a result, the IASB, the IFRS Interpretations
Committee and others have had difficulty reaching conclusions on whether and
when some transactions give rise to liabilities. Additional guidance could establish
principles on which to develop future requirements.

() other aspects of the existing definitions for an asset and a liability have become
clearer in recent years as the IASB has developed requirements and guidance within
individual Standards. For example, several Standards now give guidance on
identifying the substance of contractual rights and obligations. The IASB thinks
that it would be helpful to update the Conceptual Framework to include the general
principles underlying that guidance.

Section 3 suggests the following:

(a) to support the definition of an asset, guidance should be provided on:
(1) the meaning of ‘economic resource’; and
(i) the meaning of ‘control’.

(b) to support the definition of a liability, guidance should be provided on:
(1) the meaning of ‘transfer an economic resource’;
(i) constructive obligations; and
(iii) the meaning of ‘present’ obligation.

() to support both definitions, guidance should be provided on:

© IFRS Foundation 8
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(1) reporting the substance of contractual rights and contractual obligations;
and
(ii) executory contracts.

The most detailed discussion in Section 3 relates to constructive obligations and to the
meaning of ‘present’ obligations. For constructive obligations, the IASB’s preliminary view
is that the existing definition of a liability—which encompasses both legal and constructive
obligations—should be retained and more guidance should be added to help to distinguish
constructive obligations from economic compulsion.

The discussion on the meaning of present obligation notes that a present obligation arises
from past events. An obligation can be viewed as having arisen from past events if the
amount of the liability will be determined by reference to benefits received, or activities
conducted, by the entity before the end of the reporting period. However, it is unclear
whether such past events are sufficient to create a present obligation if any requirement to
transfer an economic resource remains conditional on the entity’s future actions. The
discussion identifies three different views that the IASB could use as a starting point in
developing guidance for the Conceptual Framework:

(a) View 1: a present obligation must have arisen from past events and be strictly
unconditional. An entity does not have a present obligation if it could, at least in
theory, avoid the transfer through its future actions.

(b) View 2: a present obligation must have arisen from past events and be practically
unconditional. An obligation is practically unconditional if the entity does not have
the practical ability to avoid the transfer through its future actions.

() View 3: a present obligation must have arisen from past events, but may be
conditional on the entity’s future actions.

The IASB has tentatively rejected View 1. However, it has not reached a preliminary view in
favour of View 2 or View 3.

Section 4—Recognition and derecognition

Section 4 discusses:

(@) recognition: when should an entity’s statement of financial position report an
economic resource as an asset or an obligation as a liability?

(b) derecognition: when should an entity remove an asset or a liability from its
statement of financial position?

The IASB’s preliminary view on recognition is that an entity should recognise all its assets
and liabilities, unless the IASB decides when developing or revising a particular Standard
that an entity need not, or should not, recognise an asset or a liability because:

(a) recognising the asset (or the liability) would provide users of financial statements
with information that is not relevant or is not sufficiently relevant to justify the
cost; or

(b) no measure of the asset (or the liability) would result in a faithful representation of

both the asset (or the liability) and the changes in the asset (or the liability), even if
all necessary descriptions and explanations are disclosed.
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The existing Conceptual Framewotrk does not address derecognition. The IASB’s preliminary
view is that an entity should derecognise an asset or a liability when it no longer meets the
recognition criteria. However, for cases in which an entity retains a component of an asset
or a liability, the IASB should determine, when developing or revising particular Standards
how the entity would best portray the changes that resulted from the transaction. Possible
approaches include:

(a) enhanced disclosure;

(b) presenting any rights or obligations retained on a line item that is different from
the line item used for the original rights or obligations, to highlight the greater
concentration of risk; or

(c) continuing to recognise the original asset or liability and treating the proceeds
received or paid for the transfer as a loan received or granted.

Section 5—Definition of equity and distinction between liability
and equity elements

Section 5 discusses the definition of equity, the measurement and presentation of different
classes of equity and how to distinguish liabilities from equity instruments. It addresses the
following problems:

(a) financial statements do not clearly show how equity instruments with prior claims
against the entity affect possible future cash flows to investors.

(b) existing IFRSs do not apply the definition of a liability consistently when
distinguishing financial liabilities from equity instruments. This results in
exceptions to the definition of a liability. Those exceptions are complex, difficult to
understand and difficult to apply, causing inconsistency and many requests for
Interpretations.  That inconsistency makes financial statements difficult to
understand and creates opportunities for structuring.

The IASB’s preliminary views are that:

(a) the Conceptual Framework should retain the existing definition of equity as the
residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all its liabilities.

(b) the Conceptual Framework should state that the IASB should use the definition of a
liability to distinguish liabilities from equity instruments. Two consequences of this

are:
(1) obligations to issue equity instruments are not liabilities; and
(i) obligations that will arise only when the reporting entity is liquidated are

not liabilities.
(c) an entity should:

(1) update the measure of each class of equity claim at the end of each reporting
period. The IASB would determine when developing or revising particular
Standards whether that measure would be a direct measure or an allocation
of total equity.

(ii) recognise updates to those measurements in the statement of changes in
equity, as a transfer of wealth between classes of equity claim.

© IFRS Foundation 10
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(d) if an entity has issued no equity instruments, it may be appropriate to treat the most
subordinated class of instruments as if it were an equity claim, with suitable
disclosure. Identifying whether to use such an approach, and if so, when, would be
a decision that the IASB would need to make when it develops or revises particular
Standards.

Section 6—Measurement

The existing Conceptual Framework provides little guidance on measurement and when
particular measurements should be used. Section 6 describes the guidance that the IASB
could include in a revised Conceptual Framework to assist the IASB in developing
measurement requirements in new or revised Standards. In particular, this section:

(@) describes how the objective of financial reporting and qualitative characteristics of
useful financial information influence measurement requirements.

(b) describes and discusses the following three categories of measurement:
(1) cost-based measurements;
(i) current market prices, including fair value; and
(iii) other cash-flow based measurements.

() discusses how to identify an appropriate measurement.

The IASB’s preliminary views on measurement are that:

(a) the objective of measurement is to contribute to the faithful representation of
relevant information about:

(i) the resources of the entity, claims against the entity and changes in
resources and claims; and

(i) how efficiently and effectively the entity’s management and governing
board have discharged their responsibilities to use the entity’s resources.

(b) a single measurement basis for all assets and liabilities may not provide the most
relevant information for users of financial statements.

() when selecting which measurement to use for a particular item, the IASB should
consider what information that measurement will produce in both the statement of
financial position and the statement(s) of profit or loss and OCI.

(d) the relevance of a particular measurement will depend on how investors, creditors
and other lenders are likely to assess how an asset or a liability of that type will
contribute to future cash flows. Consequently, the selection of a measurement:

(1) for a particular asset should depend on how that asset contributes to future
cash flows; and

(ii) for a particular liability should depend on how the entity will settle or fulfil
that liability.
(e) the number of different measurements used should be the smallest number

necessary to provide relevant information. Unnecessary measurement changes
should be avoided and necessary measurement changes should be explained.

H the benefits of a particular measurement to users of financial statements need to be
sufficient to justify the cost.

11 © |FRS Foundation
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Section 7—Presentation and disclosure

The existing Conceptual Framework does not provide guidance on presentation and disclosure.

Section 7 describes the guidance that could be included in a revised Conceptual Framework to

assist the IASB in developing presentation and disclosure requirements in new or revised

Standards to address this issue. In particular, this section describes and discusses:

(@)

presentation in the primary financial statements, including:

(1) the objective of primary financial statements;

(i) the concepts of aggregation, classification and offsetting; and
(iii) the relationship between primary financial statements.

disclosures in the notes to the financial statements, including:

(1) the objective of the notes to the financial statements; and
(1) the scope of the notes to the financial statements.
materiality.

what the IASB might consider when developing the form of disclosure and
presentation requirements including:

(i) disclosure objectives;
(i) communication principles; and

(iii) the implications of delivering financial statements in an electronic format.

The IASB’s preliminary views on presentation and disclosure are that:

(@)

the objective of primary financial statements is to provide summarised information
about recognised assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses, changes in equity, and
cash flows that has been classified and aggregated in a manner that is useful to users
of financial statements in making decisions about providing resources to the entity.

the objective of the notes to the financial statements is to supplement the primary
financial statements by providing additional useful information about:

(1) the assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses, changes in equity, and cash
flows of the entity; and

(ii) how efficiently and effectively the entity’s management and governing
board have discharged their responsibilities to use the entity’s resources.

to meet the objective of disclosure, the IASB would normally consider requiring
disclosure about the following:

(1) the reporting entity as a whole;

(ii) amounts recognised in the entity’s primary financial statements, including
changes in those amounts (for example, disaggregation of line items,
roll-forwards, reconciliation);

(iii) the nature and extent of the entity’s unrecognised assets and liabilities;

(iv) the nature and extent of risks arising from the entity’s assets and liabilities
(whether recognised or unrecognised); and

© IFRS Foundation 12
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(v) the methods, assumptions and judgements, and changes in those methods,
assumptions and judgements, that affect amounts presented or otherwise
disclosed.

(d) the concept of materiality is clearly described in the existing Conceptual Framework.

Consequently, the IASB does not propose to amend, or add to, the guidance in the
Conceptual Framework on materiality. However, the IASB is considering developing
additional guidance or education material on materiality outside of the Conceptual
Framework project.

(e) forward-looking information would be included in the notes to the financial
statements if it provides relevant information about existing assets and liabilities, or
about assets and liabilities that existed during the reporting period.

Section 8—Presentation in the statement of comprehensive
income

The existing Conceptual Framework does not specifically discuss presentation of financial
performance in the statement(s) of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (OCI).
However, respondents to the IASB’s Agenda Consultation 2011 identified the reporting of
financial performance (including the use of OCI and recycling) as a key topic that the IASB
should address.

Section 8 discusses:
(a) the purpose of the statement(s) of profit or loss and OCI; and

(b) whether the Conceptual Framework should require a profit or loss total or subtotal and
whether it should require or permit recycling.

The IASB’s preliminary views are that:

(a) the Conceptual Framework should require a profit or loss total or subtotal that also
results, or could result, in some items of income or expense being recycled; and

(b) the use of OCI should be limited to items of income or expense resulting from
changes in current measures of assets and liabilities (remeasurements). However,
not all such remeasurements would be eligible for recognition in OCI. Section 8
discusses two approaches that could be used to define which remeasurements might
be included in OCIL.

Section 9—Other issues

Section 9 discusses:

() the IASB’s approach to Chapter 1 The Objective of General Purpose Financial Reporting and
Chapter 3 The Qualitative Characteristics of Useful Financial Information of the existing
Conceptual Framework. The IASB does not intend to fundamentally reconsider the
content of these chapters. However, the IASB will make changes to those chapters if
work on the rest of the Conceptual Framework highlights areas within those chapters
that need clarifying or amending. Section 9 also discusses the concerns that some
have raised with how these chapters deal with the issues of stewardship, reliability
and prudence.
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the use of the business model concept in financial reporting—this Discussion Paper
does not define the business model concept. However, the IASB’s preliminary view
is that financial statements can be made more relevant if it considers how an entity
conducts its business activities when it develops new or revised Standards.

unit of account—the IASB’s preliminary view is that the unit of account will
normally be decided when it develops or revises particular Standards and that, in
selecting a unit of account, it should consider the qualitative characteristics of
useful information.

going concern—the IASB has identified three situations in which the going concern
assumption is relevant (when measuring assets and liabilities, when identifying
liabilities and when making disclosures about the entity).

capital maintenance—the IASB may reconsider capital maintenance concepts if it
undertakes a project on accounting for high inflation. The IASB plans to keep the
existing descriptions and discussion of capital maintenance concepts in the revised
Conceptual Framework largely unchanged until it undertakes such a project.

What are the next steps in this project?

The views expressed in this Discussion Paper are preliminary and subject to change. The

IASB will consider the comments received on this Discussion Paper when developing

proposals for an Exposure Draft of a revised Conceptual Framework. The IASB aims to finalise
a revised Conceptual Framework in 2015.

Invitation to comment

The IASB invites comments on all matters in this Discussion Paper and, in particular, on the
questions set out at the end of each section. There is also a copy of all the questions in
Appendix H.

Comments are most helpful if they:

(@)
(b)
()
(d)

respond to the questions as stated;
indicate the specific paragraph or paragraphs to which the comments relate;
contain a clear rationale; and

describe any alternatives that the IASB should consider, if applicable.

Respondents need not comment on all of the questions and are encouraged to comment on

any additional matters.

The IASB will consider all comments received in writing by 14 January 2014.

© IFRS Foundation 14
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Section 1—Introduction

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

History of the project

In 2004, the IASB and the US national standard-setter, the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB), initiated a joint project to revise their conceptual
frameworks.

In 2010, the IASB and the FASB issued two chapters of a revised conceptual
framework:

() Chapter 1—The Objective of General Purpose Financial Reporting; and
(b) Chapter 3—Qualitative Characteristics of Useful Financial Information.*

These chapters became effective as soon as they were published and now form
part of the IASB’s existing Conceptual Framework.

In addition to finalising these chapters, the IASB and the FASB also:

(a) published a Discussion Paper and an Exposure Draft on the concept of a
reporting entity;

(b) discussed the definitions of the elements of financial statements; and

(c) discussed, and held public round-table meetings about, measurement
concepts.

In 2010, the IASB and the FASB suspended work on the joint conceptual
framework in order to concentrate on other projects on their agendas.

In 2012, the IASB carried out a public consultation on its agenda. Many
respondents to that consultation identified the Conceptual Framework as a priority
project for the IASB. Consequently, the IASB restarted its Conceptual Framework
project. This project is no longer being conducted jointly with the FASB.

Feedback received from the Agenda Consultation 2011 reinforced the importance of
giving priority to this project. Consequently, the IASB believes that it should
revise the Conceptual Framework without delay and aims to complete the revisions
to the Conceptual Framework by the end of 2015. Setting a tight but achievable
deadline means that the IASB must focus on those changes that will provide
clear and significant improvements to the existing Conceptual Framework.

In developing the revised Conceptual Framework, the IASB will focus on:

(@) elements of the financial statements (including the boundary between
liabilities and equity);

(b) recognition and derecognition;
() measurement;

(d) presentation and disclosure (including the question of what should be
presented in other comprehensive income (OCI)); and

(e) the reporting entity.

1

Chapter 2 is intended to cover the concept of the reporting entity but has not yet been finalised.
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The IASB has decided to build on the existing Conceptual Framework—updating,
improving and filling in gaps rather than fundamentally reconsidering all
aspects of the Conceptual Framework.

Consequently, the IASB has decided not to fundamentally reconsider the
chapters of the Conceptual Framework published in 2010 that deal with the
objective of financial reporting and the qualitative characteristics of useful
financial information (Chapters 1 and 3). Section 9 explains why the IASB does
not propose to fundamentally reconsider Chapters 1 and 3 and seeks views on
this proposal. The text of Chapters 1 and 3 is reproduced in Appendix A. The
IASB may need to make changes to Chapters 1 and 3 if work on the rest of the
Conceptual Framework highlights areas in these chapters that need clarifying or
amending.

Before 2010, the IASB and the FASB had adopted a phased approach to the
Conceptual Framework project. They planned to complete the project in eight
separate phases. On restarting the project in 2012, the IASB decided not to
continue with the phased approach and instead to develop a complete set of
proposals for a revised Conceptual Framework. The IASB believes that this
approach will enable it, and interested parties, to see more clearly the links
between different aspects of the Conceptual Framework.

Development of this Discussion Paper

In developing this Discussion Paper the IASB has drawn on the extensive public
discussions that have already taken place on the Conceptual Framework—in
particular, the work on elements, measurement and the reporting entity. The
IASB has also drawn on the public discussions of conceptual issues in several
projects including:

(a) Financial Statement Presentation (presentation and disclosure);
(b) Non-financial Liabilities (measurement and elements);

() Emission Trading Schemes (elements and unit of account);

(d) Leases (elements and unit of account);

(e) Revenue Recognition (control);

() Liabilities/Equity (elements); and

(g) Financial Instruments (measurement).

During the development of this Discussion Paper, the IASB referred to the
requirements of existing Standards and existing practice when it believed that
these helped to illustrate a particular concept. However, the IASB’s aim is to
select concepts that will result in financial statements that meet the objective of
financial reporting, not to justify existing requirements and practice.

Since restarting the Conceptual Framework project, the IASB has sought only
limited external input. The IASB is using this Discussion Paper to begin seeking
external input in a manner that will give interested parties a clear sense of how
each part of the project fits into the whole.
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During the development of this Discussion Paper, the IASB has received helpful

input from:

(@) its own survey and discussion forum on disclosure held in January 2013;
and

(b) research undertaken by the Accounting Standards Board of Japan on the

use of OCI in financial statements.
The IASB has also considered work undertaken by other organisations including:

(a) the work of the International Public Sector Accounting Standards Board
(IPSASB) to develop a conceptual framework for public entities. The
IPSASB sets International Public Sector Accounting Standards and
Recommended Practice Guidelines for use by public sector entities,
including national, regional, and local governments, and related
governmental agencies. IFRSs (and, hence, the IASB’s Conceptual
Framework) are designed to apply to general purpose financial statements
and other financial reporting by profitorientated entities.
Consequently, differences between the conceptual frameworks being
developed by the IPSASB and the IASB might arise.

(b) the work of the International Integrated Reporting Council to develop an
integrated reporting framework. That framework is designed to help
communicate information about how an organisation’s strategy,
governance performance and prospects lead to the creation of value over
the short, medium and long term. Consequently, the integrated
reporting framework covers all aspects of corporate reporting, not just
financial reporting.

Consultative group

The IASB normally establishes a consultative group for major projects. The
purpose of a consultative group is to provide additional practical experience and
expertise. The IASB plans to use the Accounting Standards Advisory Forum
(ASAF) as its Conceptual Framework consultative group. The ASAF is an advisory
group to the IASB, consisting of national accounting standard-setters and
regional bodies with an interest in financial reporting. For more information
about the ASAF, please refer to http://go.ifrs.org/ASAF.

Scope of this Discussion Paper

This Discussion Paper is designed to help the IASB to develop an Exposure Draft
of a revised Conceptual Framework. In developing this Discussion Paper, the IASB
has focused on areas that have caused the IASB problems in practice.
Consequently, this Discussion Paper does not cover all the issues that the IASB
would expect to cover in an Exposure Draft.

The IASB has not reached preliminary views on all of the issues discussed in this
Discussion Paper. Furthermore, the IASB may change its preliminary views
because of comments received on this Discussion Paper.

The Conceptual Framework deals with financial reports. This Discussion Paper
focuses on financial statements, which are one form of financial report. In order
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to complete a revised Conceptual Framework on a timely basis, the IASB does not
plan to address in this project other forms of financial reports, such as
management commentary, interim financial reports, press releases and
supplementary material provided to analysts. Any decision by the IASB to
consider other forms of financial reports would need to go through the normal
process for adding a new project to the IASB’s agenda.

The IASB has not included a discussion on the reporting entity in this Discussion
Paper because the IASB has already issued a Discussion Paper and an Exposure
Draft on this topic. To provide context for the areas discussed in this Discussion
Paper, Appendix B summarises the proposals in that Exposure Draft and the
comments received on it. The IASB intends that the Exposure Draft of the
Conceptual Framework will include material on the reporting entity, based on the
2010 Exposure Draft and updated in the light of comments received on that
Exposure Draft.

In some areas this Discussion Paper includes more discussion than the IASB
would include in a revised Conceptual Framework. The IASB believes that this
additional analysis is needed at this stage of the project to enable interested
parties to understand, and provide comments on, the issues raised.

Effect on existing practice and use of examples

The IASB will not necessarily change existing Standards for any of the areas
discussed in this Conceptual Framework. Any decision to amend an existing
Standard would require the IASB to go through its normal due process for
adding a project to its agenda and for developing an Exposure Draft and an
amendment to that Standard.

The International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities (IFRS
for SMEs) includes a section on the concepts and basic principles underlying the
financial statements of small and medium-sized entities that is based on the
existing Conceptual Framework. The IASB will consider whether it should amend
this section of the IFRS for SMEs once it has finalised its work on the revised
Conceptual Framework.

This Discussion Paper also includes examples to illustrate the scope of the
problems addressed and the possible consequences of different solutions. The
IASB does not plan to reproduce the examples in the Conceptual Framework. In
addition, the examples do not necessarily illustrate proposed changes to existing
[FRS:s.

Purpose of the Conceptual Framework

The Conceptual Framework sets out the concepts that underlie the preparation and
presentation of financial statements. Its purpose, as described in the existing
Conceptual Framework, is:

(a) to assist the IASB in the development of future IFRSs and in its review of
existing IFRSs;
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(b) to assist the IASB in promoting harmonisation of regulations, accounting
standards and procedures relating to the presentation of financial
statements by providing a basis for reducing the number of alternative
accounting treatments permitted by IFRSs;

() to assist national standard-setting bodies in developing national
standards;
(d) to assist preparers of financial statements in applying IFRSs and in

dealing with topics that have yet to form the subject of an IFRS;

(e) to assist auditors in forming an opinion on whether financial statements
comply with IFRSs;

® to assist users of financial statements in interpreting the information
contained in financial statements prepared in compliance with IFRSs;
and

(2) to provide those who are interested in the work of the IASB with

information about its approach to the formulation of IFRSs.

The IASB believes that a long list of possible uses of the Conceptual Framework is
unhelpful when developing a revised Conceptual Framework. Instead this
Discussion Paper proposes that the primary purpose of the revised Conceptual
Framework is to assist the IASB by identifying concepts that it will use
consistently when developing and revising IFRSs. The IASB believes that
focusing on the needs of the IASB when setting Standards will help to provide
better targeted concepts for the revised Conceptual Framework.

In addition, the Conceptual Framework plays an important role in helping parties
other than the IASB (for example, preparers, auditors, regulators and users of
financial statements):

(a) to understand and interpret existing IFRSs. The rubric in front of each
individual Standard states that the Standard should be read in the
context of (among other things) the Conceptual Framework.

(b) to develop accounting policies when no IFRS specifically applies to a
particular transaction or event. IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors states that preparers should consider the
Conceptual Framework when developing accounting policies for such
transactions or events.

Consequently, the IASB proposes that the revised Conceptual Framework should
state that it may also assist parties other than the IASB:

(@) to understand and interpret existing Standards; and

(b) to develop accounting policies when no Standard or Interpretation
specifically applies to a particular transaction or event.

Some aspects of the Conceptual Framework are intended only for the IASB’s use as
it develops new or revised IFRSs. For example, it is intended that the IASB will
use the proposed guidance on when an item of income or expense could be
presented in OCI when developing new or revised IFRSs. It is not intended that
preparers of IFRS financial statements would use this guidance when developing
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accounting policies for items to which no Standard or Interpretation specifically
applies. Where the IASB does not intend other parties to use a particular aspect
of the Conceptual Framework it will make that clear.

Status of the Conceptual Framework

The existing Conceptual Framework is not a Standard or Interpretation and does
not override any specific Standard or Interpretation. This Discussion Paper does
not propose to change this position.

In a limited number of cases, there may be a conflict between the Conceptual
Framework and a Standard. Where there is a conflict, the requirements of the
Standard prevail over the Conceptual Framework. However, because the Conceptual
Framework will guide the IASB when it develops and revises Standards, the
number of these conflicts should diminish through time.

Although the Conceptual Framework should guide the IASB when it develops new
Standards, there may be rare cases when applying some aspect of the Conceptual
Framework does not produce financial information about the reporting entity
that is useful to the users of the financial statements. In such cases, the IASB
may decide that it needs to issue a new or revised Standard that conflicts with
that aspect of the Conceptual Framework in order to meet the overall objective of
financial reporting. This Discussion Paper proposes that, in such a case, the IASB
should describe the departure from the Conceptual Framework, and the reasons for
it, in the Basis for Conclusions on that Standard.

The IASB will review the Conceptual Framework from time to time in the light of
the IASB’s experience of working with it.

Summary of objective and qualitative characteristics
In developing this Discussion Paper, the IASB has considered:

(a) how the proposals in this Discussion Paper contribute to the objective of
general purpose financial reporting (as described in Chapter 1 of the
existing Conceptual Framework); and

(b) the qualitative characteristics of useful financial information (as
described in Chapter 3 of the existing Conceptual Framework).

The following is a brief summary of the objective of general purpose financial
reporting and of the qualitative characteristics of useful financial information
(see Appendix A for the full text of Chapters 1 and 3 of the existing Conceptual
Framework):

(a) the objective of general purpose financial reporting is to provide
financial information about the reporting entity that is useful to users of
financial statements (existing and potential investors, lenders and other
creditors) in making decisions about providing resources to the entity.?

(b) what those users find useful is information about

(1) the entity’s resources;

2 See paragraph OB2 of the existing Conceptual Framework.
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(i) claims against the entity;
(iii) changes in resources and claims; and

(iv) how efficiently and effectively the entity’s management and
governing board have discharged their responsibilities to use the
entity’s resources.>*

(c) financial statements and other financial reports provide information
about the reporting entity’s financial position (its economic resources
and claims against the entity). They also provide information about the
effects of transactions and other events and conditions that change those
resources and claims. Both types of information provide the users of
financial statements with useful input for decisions about providing
resources to an entity.”

(d) if financial information is to be useful, it must be relevant and faithfully
represent what it purports to represent. The usefulness of financial
information is enhanced if it is comparable, verifiable, timely and
understandable.®

(e) reporting financial information imposes costs, and it is important that
those costs are justified by the benefits of reporting that information.”

Question for respondents

Question 1

Paragraphs 1.25-1.33 set out the proposed purpose and status of the Conceptual
Framework. The IASB’s preliminary views are that:

() the primary purpose of the revised Conceptual Framework is to assist the IASB by
identifying concepts that it will use consistently when developing and revising
IFRSs; and

(b) in rare cases, in order to meet the overall objective of financial reporting, the

IASB may decide to issue a new or revised Standard that conflicts with an aspect
of the Conceptual Framework. If this happens the IASB would describe the
departure from the Conceptual Framework, and the reasons for that departure, in
the Basis for Conclusions on that Standard.

Do you agree with these preliminary views? Why or why not?

3 Throughout the existing Conceptual Framework, the term ‘management’ refers to management and
the governing board of an entity unless specifically indicated otherwise.

See paragraph OB4 of the existing Conceptual Framework.
See paragraphs OB12 and QC2 of the existing Conceptual Framework.
See paragraph QC4 of the existing Conceptual Framework.

Ny Ul b

See paragraph QC35 of the existing Conceptual Framework.
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Section 2—Elements of financial statements

2.1 This section deals with the following topics:
(a) elements of financial statements (see paragraphs 2.2-2.5);
(b) definitions of assets and liabilities (see paragraphs 2.6-2.36);
() definitions of income and expense (see paragraphs 2.37-2.50); and
(d) other definitions (see paragraph 2.52).
What are the elements of financial statements?
2.2 Financial statements give information about:
(a) an entity’s financial position (the entity’s resources and the claims
against the entity), reported in a statement of financial position.
(b) changes in an entity’s resources and in the claims against the entity. An
entity reports separately on the following components of those changes:
(1) income and expense, reported in statement(s) of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income (OCI);
(ii) changes in the entity’s equity, reported in a statement of changes
in equity;
(iii) cash flows, reported in a statement of cash flows; and
(iv) other changes in resources and obligations, reported if necessary
in the notes to the financial statements. An example of such a
change would be the acquisition of property, plant and
equipment for non-cash consideration.

2.3 Financial statements portray the financial effects of transactions and other
events by grouping them into broad classes—the elements of financial
statements. Elements are the building blocks from which financial statements
are constructed.

2.4 Classifying, characterising and presenting information clearly and concisely
makes that information understandable.® To achieve this, each primary
statement includes only items that are elements defined for that statement, and
totals and subtotals derived from those elements.’

2.5 The elements are:

(a) in the statement of financial position: assets, liabilities and equity (see
paragraphs 2.6-2.36 for the discussion on assets and liabilities and
Section 5 for the discussion on equity);

(b) in the statement(s) of profit or loss and OCI: income and expense (see
paragraphs 2.37-2.50);

8  See paragraph QC30 of the existing Conceptual Framework.

9

Section 7 discusses the primary financial statements.
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(c) in the statement of changes in equity: contributions of equity,
distributions of equity and transfers between classes of equity (see
paragraph 2.52 and Section 5); and

(d) in the statement of cash flows: cash inflows and cash outflows (see
paragraph 2.52).

Definitions of assets and liabilities

The elements of the statement of financial position are assets, liabilities and
equity. These elements provide users of financial statements with information
about an entity’s resources, obligations and other claims against the entity.
Users need that information to assess the entity’s prospects for future net cash
inflows.

Information about an entity’s resources, obligations and other claims against
the entity, and about changes in those items, also helps users of financial
statements to assess how efficiently and effectively the entity’s management and
governing board have discharged their responsibilities to use the entity’s
resources.'® That assessment provides further input into assessments by users of
the entity’s prospects for future net cash inflows. Such information is also
useful for decisions by existing investors, lenders and other creditors who have
the right to vote on, or otherwise influence, management’s actions.

The statement of financial position includes recognised assets and liabilities. To
recognise an asset or a liability, an entity must answer ‘yes’ to both of the
following questions:

(@) does something exist that meets the definition of an asset or a liability of
the entity (see paragraphs 2.9-2.36)?

(b) does that asset or liability meet the recognition criteria discussed in
Section 4?

The existing definitions of assets and liabilities are:

(@) an asset: a resource controlled by the entity as a result of past events and
from which future economic benefits are expected to flow to the entity;"
and

(b) a liability: a present obligation of the entity arising from past events, the

settlement of which is expected to result in an outflow from the entity of
resources embodying economic benefits.!?

These definitions have been useful for solving many issues in standard-setting.
They focus on economic phenomena that exist in the real world (resources and
obligations), that are relevant to users of financial statements and that are
understandable. Nevertheless, the IASB believes that the definitions can be
improved in two ways:

(a) confirming more explicitly that:

10 See paragraph OB4 of the existing Conceptual Framework.

11 See paragraph 4.4(a) of the existing Conceptual Framework.

12 See paragraph 4.4(b) of the existing Conceptual Framework.

23 © |FRS Foundation



(i)

(iif)

DiscussioN PAPER—JuLY 2013

an asset is a resource (rather than the inflow of economic benefits
that the resource may generate).

a liability is an obligation (rather than the outflow of economic
benefits that the obligation may generate).

an asset must be capable of generating inflows of economic
benefits. Those inflows need not be certain. The probability of
those inflows need not reach any minimum threshold before the
underlying resource meets the definition of an asset.

(iv) a liability must be capable of generating outflows of economic
benefits. Those outflows need not be certain. Their probability
need not reach any minimum threshold before the underlying
obligation meets the definition of a liability.

(b) adding to the guidance supporting the definitions of assets and

liabilities, to clarify various matters that have caused difficulties when

revising or providing Interpretations for particular Standards. Section 3

discusses suggestions for additional guidance.

211 This Discussion Paper proposes the following definitions to implement the
changes identified in the previous paragraph:

Asset
(of an entity)

Liability
(of an entity)

Existing definitions Proposed definition

a resource controlled by the | a present economic

entity as a result of past resource controlled by the
events and from which entity as a result of past
future economic benefits events.

are expected to flow to the

entity.

a present obligation of the | a present obligation of the
entity arising from past entity to transfer an
events, the settlement of economic resource as a

which is expected to result | result of past events.
in an outflow from the entity
of resources embodying
economic benefits.

Economic [no existing definition] a right, or other source of
resource value, that is capable of
producing economic
benefits.
212 The following discussion addresses two aspects of the proposed improvements to
the definitions of an asset and a liability:
(a) an asset is a resource and a liability is an obligation (see paragraphs

2.13-2.16); and

(b) the role of uncertainty (see paragraphs 2.17-2.36).
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An asset is a resource and a liability is an obligation

Because the existing definitions refer to expected flows of economic benefits,
some readers have sometimes confused the resource (asset) or the obligation
(liability) with the resulting inflow or outflow of economic benefits. Two factors
give rise to this potential confusion:

(a) some readers interpret the term ‘expected’ as conveying a probability
threshold. Whether the definition should include such a threshold is
discussed in paragraphs 2.17-2.36.

(b) the explicit reference to the flows of economic benefits blurs the
distinction between the resource or obligation and the resulting flows of
economic benefits. The proposed definition seeks to remove that source
of confusion by moving the reference to economic benefits into the new
definition of an economic resource. As a further advantage, that
proposed change would make the definitions more concise and focused,
and show more clearly the parallel between the definitions of an asset
and a liability.

The guidance supporting the definition of an asset would make clear that the
asset is the resource; it is not the ultimate future inflow. For example:

(a) for a call option on an underlying asset, the resource is the contractual
right to buy the underlying asset, not the underlying asset itself.
(Similarly, the holder has no obligation to pay the strike price.)

(b) for a free-standing put option on an asset, the resource of the option
holder is the contractual right to compel the option writer to buy the
underlying asset, not the sale proceeds that the option holder will
receive if it exercises its option. (If the put option is not free standing but
is instead embedded in the asset itself, the option might be viewed as
being part of the asset rather than as a separate asset. Whether that view
is taken depends on the unit of account; see Section 9.)

(c) under a forward purchase contract, the purchaser’s resource is the right
to compel the counterparty to sell the underlying asset at a future date.
The purchaser also has an obligation to pay the consideration. Section 3
includes a discussion about whether executory contracts, including
forward contracts, give rise to a single (net) asset or liability, or to a
separate asset and liability.

(d) for pharmaceutical research that is in progress, the resource is the
know-how, not the economic benefits that will arise if the research is
successful. (Although the measure of such assets might in some cases be
very small, or immaterial, if the likelihood of future cash inflows is
remote or the future cash inflow is small, that does not mean that an
asset does not exist.)

(e) for a lottery ticket, the resource is the right to participate in the lottery,
not the cash prize.
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In existing practice, some of the economic resources identified in paragraph
2.14 are not typically recognised as assets. The recognition criteria in the
relevant Standard would determine whether an entity recognises those assets
(see Section 4).

The existing definitions refer to past events that brought a resource under the
entity’s control, or that imposed the obligation on the entity. The proposed
definitions:

(a) retain the term ‘present’ in the proposed definition of a liability. This
emphasises that, to determine whether a liability exists, the key question
is whether the entity has an obligation at the reporting date.

(b) add the term ‘present’ to the proposed definition of an asset. This notion
is already implicit in the existing definition. Making it explicit
emphasises the parallel with the definition of a liability.

() retain, in both definitions, the phrase ‘as a result of past events’. This
emphasises the accounting for the past transaction or other event that
brought the resource under the entity’s control or imposed the
obligation on the entity. It is not necessary to identify that event in
order to identify whether the entity has an asset or a liability.
Nevertheless, by identifying that event, an entity can determine how best
to portray that event in its financial statements, for example, how best to
classify and present income, expenses or cash flows arising from that
event.

Role of uncertainty

In the existing Conceptual Framework, uncertainty may appear to play a role both
in the definitions of assets and liabilities and in the recognition criteria:

(a) the existing definitions include the notion that future economic benefits
(or a future outflow of resources) must be ‘expected’; and

(b) the existing recognition criteria specify that an asset or a liability is
recognised if it is probable that any future economic benefit associated
with the item will flow to or from the entity.

These features of the existing definitions and recognition criteria have given rise
to several questions:

(a) are the terms ‘expected’ in the definitions and ‘probable’ in the
recognition criteria both intended to address uncertainty? If so, what is
the relationship between the two terms?

(b) is either of these terms intended to convey a requirement that the
probability of an inflow or outflow of economic benefits must meet some
minimum threshold?

() if the term ‘expected’ is not intended to convey a minimum threshold, is
it used in the mathematical sense of an ‘expected value’, which refers to
a probability-weighted average of the possible outcomes (the mean of a
statistical distribution)?
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(d) is the use of the term ‘probable’ in the recognition criteria intended to
refer to uncertainty about whether future inflows or outflows will occur?
Or is it intended to refer to uncertainty about which entity will receive or
transfer those flows?

In considering those questions, it is worth distinguishing two forms of
uncertainty:

(a) uncertainty about whether an asset or a liability exists (‘existence
uncertainty’; see paragraphs 2.20-2.31); and

(b) uncertainty about whether an asset or a liability will result in any inflow
or outflow (‘outcome uncertainty’; see paragraphs 2.32-2.34).

Existence uncertainty

In some rare cases, it is unclear whether an entity has an asset or a liability.
Existence uncertainty is present if it is uncertain whether an asset or a liability
exists. The most obvious example of existence uncertainty is litigation; for
example, it might be uncertain whether an entity committed an act that, if
committed, obliges the entity to pay damages or a fine.

The Conceptual Framework could stay silent on existence uncertainty, or it could
address existence uncertainty in either the definitions of the elements or the
recognition criteria. Because existence uncertainty relates to the existence of an
asset or a liability, this Discussion Paper considers it in relation to the
definitions.

Setting an explicit probability threshold in the Conceptual Framework could lead
to more consistency in decisions when developing or revising Standards. On the
other hand, the following are arguments against including an explicit
probability threshold in the Conceptual Framework:

(a) existence uncertainty is rare—there is no need to establish a principle for
these few cases;

(b) allowing for judgement is appropriate in principle-based standards; and

(c) if existence uncertainty is significant in a particular project, the IASB
could decide in that project which threshold, if any, would result in the
most relevant information for users of financial statements in that
particular case. The Conceptual Framework could explain this point.

If the Conceptual Framework does set a probability threshold for existence
uncertainty, the following questions arise:

(a) which threshold should it set (see paragraphs 2.24-2.26); and

(b) should the same threshold apply in all circumstances (see paragraphs
2.27-2.30)?

Examples of possible probability thresholds include:

(a) virtually certain: an entity should conclude that an asset or a liability
exists if it is virtually certain that the asset or the liability exists (and that
it is an asset or a liability of the entity). As a precedent, IAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets currently uses this as a
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recognition criterion for contingent assets, though it does not
distinguish existence uncertainty from outcome uncertainty. Once it
becomes virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits will arise,
IAS 37 treats this item as an asset to be recognised, not as a contingent
asset.’?

(b) probable: an entity should conclude that an asset or a liability exists if it
is probable that an asset or a liability exists (and that it is an asset or a
liability of the entity). As a precedent, IAS 37 adopts this threshold for
provisions. (IAS 37 also states that an outflow of resources or other event
is probable if it is more likely than not to occur. Other Standards do not
define the term ‘probable’.) As noted in (a), IAS 37 does not distinguish
existence uncertainty from outcome uncertainty.

Some support using virtual certainty as the threshold in cases of existence
uncertainty. They note that the definitions of assets and liabilities are the
foundations of financial reporting. In their view, when there is not a high
probability that an economic resource or obligation actually exists, reporting an
asset or a liability would not result in relevant and understandable information
and would undermine the confidence of users in the integrity of financial
statements.

Others support using probable (or more likely than not) as the threshold in cases
of existence uncertainty. They note that existence uncertainty and outcome
uncertainty are often related, and that few would advocate using ‘virtually
certain’ as a threshold for outcome uncertainty. When it is not virtually certain
whether an asset or a liability exists, there may often also be uncertainty about
the outcome that the asset or the liability will produce if it does exist.
Consequently, supporters of this approach believe that inconsistencies may arise
if an entity delays recognising an asset or a liability until its existence is
regarded as virtually certain, but does recognise an asset or a liability whose
existence is regarded as certain but whose outcome is uncertain. They believe
that financial reporting will be more consistent—and more relevant—if the same
probability threshold is set for both existence uncertainty and outcome
uncertainty.

Some suggest that the Conceptual Framework should set different probability
thresholds for existence uncertainty in different circumstances. For example,
some believe that an entity should conclude that an asset exists if it is virtually
certain that the asset exists (and that it is an asset of the entity); it should
conclude that a liability exists if it is probable that the liability exists (and that it
is a liability of the entity). This is one feature of IAS 37, which sets different
recognition criteria for contingent assets (virtually certain) than for liabilities
(probable, defined as more likely than not).

Those who support different thresholds for different circumstances put forward
the following arguments:

13 IAS 37 defines a ‘contingent asset’ as a possible asset that arises from past events and whose
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the reporting entity. This Discussion Paper does not
propose that the Conceptual Framework should identify a separate category of ‘contingent assets’ or
‘possible assets’.
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(a) some believe that at least some users of financial statements are more
concerned about downside risks than upside potential. Setting a higher
threshold for assets (or gains) than for liabilities (or losses) would provide
an earlier warning of items that matter more to users of financial
statements.

(b) exercising a degree of caution in conditions of uncertainty would
counter any natural conscious or subconscious bias of management
towards optimism.

Others believe that any probability threshold should apply equally in all
circumstances. In their view, this is necessary to achieve neutrality.

Some suggest that the IASB should be more willing to conclude that an asset or
a liability exists if the entity acquired the asset or incurred the liability in an
exchange transaction for observable consideration. In their view, the
transaction provides evidence that the asset or the liability existed at the time of
the transaction.

Paragraph 2.35 summarises the IASB’s preliminary views on existence
uncertainty, after a discussion of outcome uncertainty.

Outcome uncertainty

Outcome uncertainty refers to cases where the asset or the liability exists, but
the outcome is uncertain. Outcome uncertainty arises much more commonly
than existence uncertainty. Examples of outcome uncertainty include the
following:

(a) a lottery ticket, where the total number of tickets is known, and hence
the probability of winning is also known: the holder has an asset (the
ticket) but does not know whether the ticket will win. (Note also that the
issuer is certain that it will make a payment to holders of winning
tickets, though it does not know which tickets will win. If a probability
threshold is applied, either in the definition or in the recognition
criteria, the issuer would reach a different judgement for each individual
ticket than it would for the whole pool of tickets.)*4

(b) a traded option held: cash flows will occur if the holder exercises the
option (ie if the option is in the money at expiry), or if the holder sells
the option. The holder has an asset (the option) but does not know
whether it will exercise the option. The holder may be able to sell a
traded option readily before expiry of the option.

() an untraded call option on unlisted equities, for which the terms of the
option prohibit the transfer of the option to another party: the holder
has an asset (the option) but does not know whether it will exercise the
option. Ifit does not exercise the option, it will receive no cash.

14 The lottery example is included as a simple illustration of the concepts involved. Most real-life
examples are much more complex.
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(d) an investment in a partnership that does not permit the holder to
transfer the investment to another party. In this case, the investor will
receive cash only if the partnership makes a distribution, or if the
partnership is liquidated, or if the other partners buy out the investor.
The holder has an asset (the investment) but does not know whether it
will receive cash.

(e) know-how generated by a research and development (R&D) project: this
will generate cash if the project is successful, or if the know-how is sold.
The holder has an asset (the know-how) but does not know whether it
will receive cash. This case differs from the case of the lottery ticket
because the probability of success may be unknown and unknowable
(and cannot subsequently be back-tested) and there is a very wide range
of possible outcomes.

1] unquoted shares in an entity whose only activity is carrying out R&D: few
would dispute that shares in an entity generally meet the definition of
an asset. On the other hand, if there are concerns about whether the
know-how generated by an R&D project is an asset, presumably the same
concerns would arise for shares in an entity whose only asset is such
know-how.

(g) litigation: the entity will have to pay out cash if it loses the litigation. It
may be uncertain whether the entity has an obligation at all until the
court determines whether this is the case (existence uncertainty). In
addition, even if the entity has already concluded that it will lose the
litigation, it may still be uncertain how much the entity will have to pay
(outcome uncertainty).

(h) accounts receivable: the entity has an asset (the accounts receivable) but
does not know whether it will receive cash.

(i) inventory: the entity has an asset (the inventory) but does not know
whether it can sell the inventory and receive cash.

Some suggest that the IASB should retain some probability threshold, either in
the definition of the elements or in the recognition criteria, for cases of outcome
uncertainty. They think that users of financial statements will not factor some
low probability outcomes into their estimates of the amount, timing and
uncertainty of future cash flows. Hence, when there is only a small probability
of any future cash flows—for example, when an entity has given a guarantee that
is very unlikely to be called upon—the costs of recognising and measuring the
asset or the liability may exceed the benefits to users of financial statements.
Furthermore, in some cases there is a wide range of outcomes, including zero,
and the probabilities of the different outcomes are unknown and arguably
unknowable (for example, a highly speculative R&D project or some litigation).
In some such cases, measures derived from estimates of those probabilities may,
arguably, be neither relevant to users of financial statements nor verifiable.
Some believe that retaining a probability threshold (in either the definitions or
the recognition criteria) would be a practical and inexpensive way to filter these
items out. If these items are not recognised, it may be possible to disclose other
information that is relevant to users of financial statements.
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2.34 Some would be more willing to recognise an item with an uncertain outcome if
the measure of the item can be supported by current market prices. Similarly,
some would be more willing to recognise an item with an uncertain outcome if
the entity acquired it in an exchange transaction for observable consideration.
Failing to recognise that asset or liability would lead to a gain or loss that, in
their view, would not faithfully represent the change in the entity’s financial
position.

Preliminary views on uncertainty
2.35 The IASB’s preliminary views on uncertainty are that:

(a) the definitions of assets and liabilities should not retain the notion that
an inflow or outflow is ‘expected’. Retaining such a notion might
exclude many items that are clearly assets or liabilities, such as many
purchased options or written options. The important thing is that there
are at least some outcomes in which an economic resource will generate
economic benefits, or in which an obligation will result in a transfer of
economic resources. Thus:

(i) the proposed definition of an economic resource clarifies that it
need not be certain that an economic resource will generate
economic benefits, but the economic resource must be capable of
producing economic benefits. The definitions would not specify
a minimum probability threshold.

(ii) similarly, it need not be certain that a present obligation will
result in a transfer of an economic resource, but the present
obligation must be capable of resulting in a transfer of economic
resources. For example, if an obligation will require a transfer of
economic resources only if an uncertain future event occurs (for
example, a stand-ready obligation), that obligation is a liability,
as discussed in Section 3.

(b) in rare cases it is uncertain whether an asset or a liability exists. The
Conceptual Framework should not set a probability threshold to determine
whether an asset or a liability exists in those rare cases. If there is
significant uncertainty about whether an asset or a liability exists, the
IASB would decide when developing or revising an IFRS how to deal with
that uncertainty. The IASB would also consider how an entity would
provide the most faithful representation of the circumstances, and how
an entity would make the information provided more comparable,
verifiable, timely and understandable.

() the reference to probability should be deleted from the recognition
criteria. Including a probability threshold would lead to a failure to
recognise some items (for example, options) that are undoubtedly assets
or liabilities but are judged, at a particular time, to have a low
probability of resulting in an inflow or outflow of economic benefits.
Furthermore, some such items may swing above and below the threshold
as the probabilities change. In the IASB’s preliminary view, uncertainty
about the ultimate inflow or outflow should not, by itself, determine
whether an entity recognises an asset or a liability, though it may affect
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its measurement. Nevertheless, uncertainty may make some rights or
obligations so difficult to measure that recognising them might result in
information that is not relevant. Section 4 discusses, among other
things, whether to include recognition criteria relating to relevance.

Some measurement approaches may create an implicit recognition threshold.
For example, if an item is measured at the most likely outcome and the most
likely outcome is zero, it will be measured at zero (in effect, the same as not
being recognised). Consequently, the outcome of recognition decisions will
reflect not just the recognition criteria, but also the measurement that will be
used for items that are recognised. Section 6 discusses approaches to cash flows
that are uncertain.

Definitions of income and expense

The existing Conceptual Framework states that the elements directly related to the
measurement of profit are income and expense, which are defined as follows:

(a) income: increases in economic benefits during the accounting period in
the form of inflows or enhancements of assets or decreases of liabilities
that result in increases in equity, other than those relating to
contributions from equity participants.

(b) expenses: decreases in economic benefits during the accounting period
in the form of outflows or depletions of assets or incurrences of liabilities
that result in decreases in equity, other than those relating to
distributions to equity participants.!®

These elements provide users of financial statements with information about
some of the changes in an entity’s resources and obligations. This helps users to
understand the return the entity has produced on its economic resources.'® This
information in turn helps users to assess the entity’s prospects for future net
cash inflows. It does this not only directly but also, by helping users to assess
how efficiently and effectively the entity’s management have discharged their
responsibilities to use the entity’s resources, indirectly. Thus, information about
income and expenses is useful to users of financial statements for decisions
about providing resources to the entity.!”

Profit or loss, total OCI and total comprehensive income are not elements of
financial statements. They are subtotals or totals derived by summing items of
income or expense. Section 8 discusses the role of these totals and subtotals.

In relation to the definition of an expense, the IASB believes it would be helpful
for the Conceptual Framework to clarify one point that some have questioned:
whether an expense arises when an entity issues an equity instrument in
exchange for services. This question is important for determining how to treat
share-based payments (for example, share options granted to employees). When
an entity acquires an asset in exchange for issuing equity instruments, the entity
recognises that asset (if the recognition criteria are met). Similarly, when an

15 See paragraph 4.25 of the existing Conceptual Framework.

16 See paragraph OB16 of the existing Conceptual Framework.

17 See paragraphs OB2-OB4 of the existing Conceptual Framework.
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entity receives services in exchange for issuing equity instruments, the services
received are an asset; when the entity consumes that asset, it recognises an
expense. In many cases, an entity consumes that asset immediately; if so, the
entity recognises the expense at the same time as it recognises the related
increase in equity. The IASB reached this conclusion when it developed IFRS 2
Share-based Payment and believes that it is still appropriate, and that the revised
Conceptual Framework should confirm it.'®

The IASB has identified few other problems with the existing definitions of
income and expense. Some drafting changes may be required, mainly as a result
of any changes to the definitions of the other elements.

Some have suggested that the revised Conceptual Framework should define
different types of income or expense to differentiate:

(@) revenue from gains, and expenses from losses (see paragraphs 2.43-2.46);
and
(b) income and expense reported in profit or loss from income and expense

reported in OCI (see paragraphs 2.47-2.50).

Differentiating gains from revenue and losses from expenses

The existing Conceptual Framework distinguishes two categories of income:

(@) revenue, which arises in the course of the ordinary activities of an entity;
and
(b) gains, which represent other items that meet the definition of income

and may, or may not, arise in the course of the ordinary activities of the
entity.

Similarly, the existing Conceptual Framework distinguishes two categories of

expense:

(a) expenses that arise in the course of the ordinary activities of an entity;
and

(b) losses, which may, or may not, arise in the course of the ordinary

activities of the entity.
The existing Conceptual Framework notes that:

(a) gains are no different in nature from revenues (they both represent
increases in economic benefits); and

(b) losses are no different in nature from other expenses (they both
represent decreases in economic benefits).

Hence, the existing Conceptual Framework does not treat these four categories as
four separate elements. Nevertheless, the Conceptual Framework does state that
gains are usually presented separately from other income and losses are usually
presented separately from other expenses. In addition, the Conceptual Framework
notes that gains (losses) are often reported net of related expenses (income).

18 See paragraphs BC45-BC53 of IFRS 2.
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If differentiating gains from revenue and losses from expenses is useful then,
arguably, gains, revenue, losses and expenses should each be defined as separate
elements. However, in order to do this it would be necessary to define more
clearly the differences between these four items. Among other things, this
would require the IASB to define ordinary activities. The IASB believes that the
process of deciding whether to distinguish these four items would be best
carried out in a project to review Standards on financial statement presentation
and not in a project to revise the Conceptual Framework. Consequently, the IASB
intends to leave the discussion of gains, revenue, expenses and losses largely
unchanged.

Differentiating items in profit or loss from items in OCI

Some have suggested that the Conceptual Framework could improve the reporting
of financial performance by defining separate elements for:

(a) income (expenses) reported in profit or loss; and
(b) income (expenses) reported in OCI.

To define those separate elements, the IASB would have to answer exactly the
same questions as it would have to answer in developing the presentation
guidance discussed in Section 8 (ie when should a change in an asset or a
liability be reported in OCI and when should it be reported in profit or loss?).

There are disadvantages to using definitions to distinguish income and expense
reported in OCI from income and expense reported in profit or loss, rather than
relying on presentation guidance:

(a) using definitions may be a clear way to implement an approach that
states when an item must be reported in OCI, but may not be a clear way
to implement an approach that states when an item could be reported
in OCI. Section 8 recommends providing guidance about when an item
could be included in OCL

(b) defining one set of elements for use in profit or loss and a separate set of
elements for OCI may not be straightforward, particularly if the IASB
decides that an entity should report in OCI only a component of a change
in the carrying amount of an asset or a liability rather than the entire
change (for example, that part of the change in the fair value of an asset
or a liability that arises from changes in interest rates).

Consequently, this Discussion Paper proposes not to define separate elements of
income or expense to describe what should be reported in profit or loss and
what should be reported in OCI. Instead, the revised Conceptual Framework would
provide presentation guidance addressing this topic (see Section 8).

Capital maintenance adjustments

As explained in paragraphs 4.24 and 4.36 of the existing Conceptual Framework,
the recognition and measurement of income and expenses, and hence of profit,
depends in part on the concepts of capital and capital maintenance used in
preparing financial statements. The revaluation or restatement of assets and
liabilities gives rise to increases or decreases in equity. Although these increases
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or decreases meet the definition of income and expenses, they are not included
in the income statement under some concepts of capital maintenance. Instead,
these items are included in equity as capital maintenance adjustments or
revaluation reserves. The existing Conceptual Framework does not state whether
these items form part of total comprehensive income. Section 9 refers to
concepts of capital maintenance.

Other definitions

2.52 The existing Conceptual Framework does not define separate elements for the
statement of cash flows and for the statement of changes in equity. It may be
helpful for the Conceptual Framework to define elements for each primary
financial statement. The elements not discussed so far in this Section would be:

(a) statement of cash flows, whether prepared using the indirect method or
the direct method:

(1) cash receipts; and
(i) cash payments.
(b) statement of changes in equity:
(1) contributions to equity;
(i) distributions of equity; and
(iii) transfers between classes of equity.

This Discussion Paper does not propose definitions for these elements. The IASB
does not foresee great difficulties in developing definitions of these elements for
inclusion in an Exposure Draft of the revised Conceptual Framework.

Questions for respondents

Question 2

The definitions of an asset and a liability are discussed in paragraphs 2.6-2.16. The IASB
proposes the following definitions:

(a) an asset is a present economic resource controlled by the entity as a result of
past events.

(b) a liability is a present obligation of the entity to transfer an economic resource
as a result of past events.

() an economic resource is a right, or other source of value, that is capable of
producing economic benefits.

Do you agree with these definitions? Why or why not? If you do not agree, what changes
do you suggest, and why?
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Question 3

Whether uncertainty should play any role in the definitions of an asset and a liability,
and in the recognition criteria for assets and liabilities, is discussed in paragraphs
2.17-2.36. The IASB’s preliminary views are that:

(@) the definitions of assets and liabilities should not retain the notion that an
inflow or outflow is ‘expected’. An asset must be capable of producing economic
benefits. A liability must be capable of resulting in a transfer of economic
resources.

(b) the Conceptual Framework should not set a probability threshold for the rare cases
in which it is uncertain whether an asset or a liability exists. If there could be
significant uncertainty about whether a particular type of asset or liability exists,
the IASB would decide how to deal with that uncertainty when it develops or
revises a Standard on that type of asset or liability.

() the recognition criteria should not retain the existing reference to probability.

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you do not agree, what do you suggest, and why?

Question 4

Elements for the statement(s) of profit or loss and OCI (income and expense), statement
of cash flows (cash receipts and cash payments) and statement of changes in equity
(contributions to equity, distributions of equity and transfers between classes of equity)
are briefly discussed in paragraphs 2.37-2.52.

Do you have any comments on these items? Would it be helpful for the Conceptual
Framework to identify them as elements of financial statements?
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Section 3—Additional guidance to support the asset and liability

definitions
Introduction
3.1 This Section considers areas in which the IASB could add further guidance to the

3.2

3.3

Conceptual Framework to support the revised definitions of an asset and a liability.
There are three reasons for adding more guidance for those definitions:

(a) as discussed in Section 2, this Discussion Paper proposes changes to
aspects of the definitions. Further guidance would help to explain the
terms used within the proposed new definitions.

(b) some aspects of the existing definition of a liability are unclear: there is
little guidance in the Conceptual Framework and the principles underlying
different Standards can appear inconsistent. For example, it is unclear
whether an entity can have a present obligation while any requirement
to transfer an economic resource remains conditional on the entity’s
future actions. As a result, the IASB, the IFRS Interpretations Committee
(the ‘Interpretations Committee’) and others have had difficulty reaching
conclusions on whether and when some transactions give rise to
liabilities. Additional guidance could establish principles on which to
develop future requirements.

() other aspects of the existing asset and liability definitions have become
clearer in recent years as the IASB has developed requirements and
guidance within individual Standards. For example, several existing and
proposed Standards now give guidance on the nature of liabilities—such
as insurance contract liabilities—whose outcome is conditional on events
that are outside the entity’s control. In addition, several Standards now
give guidance on identifying the substance of contractual rights and
obligations. The IASB thinks that it would be helpful to revise the
Conceptual Framework to include the general principles underlying that
guidance.

To fulfil those objectives, this section considers the need for further guidance on
various aspects of the asset and liability definitions, specifically:

(a) to support the definition of an asset, the guidance will cover:
(1) the meaning of ‘economic resource’ (see paragraphs 3.4-3.15);
and

(i) the meaning of ‘control’ (see paragraphs 3.16-3.34).

(b) to support the definition of a liability, the guidance will cover:
(1) the meaning of ‘transfer an economic resource’ (see paragraphs
3.35-3.38);
(i) constructive obligations (see paragraphs 3.39-3.62); and

(iii) the meaning of ‘present’ obligation (see paragraphs 3.63-3.97).

() to support both definitions, the guidance will cover:
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reporting the substance of contractual rights and contractual
obligations (see paragraphs 3.98-3.108); and

executory contracts (see paragraphs 3.109-3.112).

Economic resource

3.4 As discussed in Section 2, this Discussion Paper proposes to define an asset as “a
present economic resource controlled by the entity as a result of past events”
and to define an economic resource as “a right, or other source of value, that is
capable of producing economic benefits”. The IASB thinks that further guidance

would help to explain the proposed new definition of ‘economic resource’. The

Discussion Paper proposes that the further guidance should cover the matters

set out in paragraphs 3.5-3.15.

3.5 Economic resources may take various forms:

()

© IFRS Foundation

enforceable rights established by contract, law or similar means, such as:

(i)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

v)

enforceable rights arising from a financial instrument, such as an
investment in a debt security or an equity investment.

enforceable rights over physical objects, such as property, plant
and equipment or inventories. Such rights might include
ownership of a physical object, the right to use a physical object
or the right to the residual value of a leased object.

enforceable rights to receive another economic resource if the
holder of the right chooses to exercise that right (an option to
acquire the underlying economic resource) or is required to
exercise that right (a forward contract to buy the underlying
economic resource). Examples include options to receive other
assets, net rights under forward contracts to buy or sell other
assets and rights to receive services for which the entity has
already paid.

enforceable rights to benefit from the stand-ready obligations of
another party (see paragraphs 3.70-3.71).

enforceable intellectual property rights (for example, registered
patents).

rights arising from a constructive obligation of another party (see
paragraphs 3.39-3.62).

other sources of value if they are capable of generating economic

benefits. Examples of such economic resources include:

(i)
(i)
(i)

(iv)

know-how;
customer lists;
customer and supplier relationships;

an existing work force; and
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(Y] goodwill. The IASB concluded in paragraphs BC313-BC323 of the
Basis for Conclusions on IFRS 3 Business Combinations that goodwill
does meet the definition of an asset. However, paragraph 4.9(c) of
this Discussion Paper explains that recognising internally
generated goodwill does not provide relevant information.

(d) some assets, particularly many services, that are consumed immediately
on receipt.

The guidance would clarify that economic benefits derived from an asset are the
potential cash flows that can be obtained directly or indirectly in many ways, for
example, by:

(@) using the asset to produce goods or provide services;
(b) using the asset to enhance the value of other assets;
() using the asset to fulfil liabilities;

(d) using the asset to reduce expenses;

(e) leasing the asset to another party;

® selling or exchanging the asset;

(2) receiving services from the asset;

(h) pledging the asset to secure a loan; and

(i) holding the asset.

The guidance would further clarify that, for a physical object, such as an item of
property, plant and equipment, the economic resource is not the underlying
object but a right (or set of rights) to obtain the economic benefits generated by
the physical object. Accordingly, although there is a difference in degree
between full, unencumbered legal ownership of, for example, a machine and a
right to use such a machine for a fixed period under a lease, there is no
difference in principle. Both full ownership and the lease give rise to assets, and
both provide rights to use the underlying machine, albeit for a period that may
be less than the useful life in the case of the leased asset:

(@) in the case of the right to use under a lease, the lessee’s right is to obtain
some of the benefits generated by the machine—those benefits generated
during the period for which the lessee has the right of use; and

(b) in the case of full, unencumbered legal ownership, the owner’s right is to
obtain all of the benefits generated by the machine throughout its useful
life.

In many cases, economic resources will comprise various different rights. For
example, if an entity has legal ownership of a physical object, the economic
resource will comprise rights such as:

(a) the right to use the object;
(b) the right to sell the object;
() the right to pledge the object; and
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(d) legal title to the object (ie any rights conferred by legal title that are not
mentioned separately in (a)—(c)).

In many cases, one party holds all these rights. Sometimes, as in a lease,
different parties each hold some of the rights. In those cases, the IASB would
need to decide how each party accounts for the rights.

In many cases, an entity treats all of the rights it holds as a single asset.
Nevertheless, an entity would treat some of the rights as one or more separate
assets if such a separation produces information that is relevant to users of
financial statements and provides a faithful representation of the entity’s
resources, at a cost that does not exceed the benefits of doing so. Whether rights
should be accounted for separately or combined into a single asset is discussed
further in Section 9.

An entity should describe an economic resource in a manner that is clear,
concise and understandable. For example, if an entity has legal ownership of a
machine and all rights associated with that machine, strictly speaking the
entity’s asset is the bundle of all rights associated with that machine. However,
it would generally be perfectly clear, concise and understandable to describe the
entity’s asset as a machine, rather than as rights to a machine. More detailed
and sophisticated descriptions of the asset would be needed only in less common
circumstances in which a summarised or non-technical description would not
convey the nature of the asset. Furthermore, it would typically be acceptable,
and indeed preferable, to use a concise label on the face of the statement of
financial position, providing any necessary details in the notes.

Sometimes, a single resource contains obligations as well as rights. For example,
contracts create a series of rights and obligations for each party. The unit of
account (see Section 9) will determine whether the entity accounts for that
package as a single asset or a single liability or as one or more separate assets
and one or more separate liabilities. Generally, when a package of rights and
obligations arises from the same source, an entity will account for them at the
highest level of aggregation that enables it to depict the rights and obligations,
and the changes in those rights and obligations, in the most relevant, faithful
and understandable manner.

The unit of account will determine whether a contract is viewed as giving rise to
a single net right or net obligation, or to one or more separate rights and
obligations. Offsetting is not the same as having a single (net) right or a single
(net) obligation. When a single (net) right or a single (net) obligation exists in a
particular case, the entity has only a single asset or a single liability. For
example, suppose that an entity holds an option to buy an asset if it pays CU100
and that the asset has an expected value of CU140.° The entity does not have an
asset of CU140 and a liability to pay the strike price of CU100. Instead, the entity
has an asset of CU40. In contrast, offsetting arises when an entity has both an
asset and a liability and recognises and measures them separately, but presents
them as a single (net) amount (possibly with disclosure of the separate asset and
liability).

19 In this Discussion Paper, currency amounts are denominated in ‘currency units’ (CU).
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Paragraph 3.5(a) refers to enforceable rights. A right is enforceable if the holder
of the right can ensure that it is the party that will receive, and can retain, any
economic benefits generated by the right. Enforceability does not mean that the
entity can ensure that those economic benefits will arise. For example, shares
normally give the holder an enforceable right to receive its share of any
dividends that the issuer chooses to pay, even if the holder cannot compel the
issuer to declare a dividend.

The following are examples of items that do not meet the definition of an
economic resource and hence do not meet the definition of an asset:

(a) debt or equity instruments issued by the entity and repurchased and
held by it (for example, treasury shares). Similarly, in consolidated
financial statements, debt or equity instruments issued by one member
of the consolidated group and held by another member of that group are
not economic resources of the group. Those instruments are not capable
of providing economic benefits to the reporting entity because the
reporting entity cannot have a claim on itself. (However, if another party
held those equity instruments, they would be an asset for that party
because they are capable of providing economic benefits, such as
dividends.)

(b) a call option on the entity’s own equity instruments. This is not an asset
for the issuer of the equity instruments because the underlying equity
instruments that would be received on exercise are not an asset for the
entity. (However, if another party held that call option, the call option
would be an asset for that party, because the equity instruments would
be an asset for that party.)

Control of an economic resource

The definition of an asset proposed in Section 2 includes a requirement for the
economic resource to be controlled by the entity. The existing Conceptual
Framework does not define the term ‘control’. However, the IASB has defined
control in some individual Standards. The IASB proposes to build on these
definitions to define the meaning of control in the context of the definition of
an asset.

Existing definitions of control

The concept of control is used in the IASB’s Exposure Draft Revenue from Contracts
with Customers (the ‘draft Revenue Standard’), published in November 2011, and
in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements.

The draft Revenue Standard uses the concept of control to determine when an
entity has transferred an asset to another party and has, consequently, satisfied a
performance obligation. In paragraph 31 it states that “An asset is transferred
when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset.”

Paragraph 32 of the draft Revenue Standard defines control of an asset in this
context as “... the ability to direct the use of and obtain substantially all of the
remaining benefits from the asset.”
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IFRS 10 uses the concept of control to determine when one entity should
consolidate another entity. In Appendix A of IFRS 10, control of an entity is
defined as follows:

An investor controls an investee when the investor is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee.

IFRS 10 explains the meaning of ‘power over the investee’ as follows:

An investor has power over an investee when the investor has existing rights that
give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities, ie the activities that
significantly affect the investee’s returns.

The definitions of control in the draft Revenue Standard and in IFRS 10
necessarily differ from each other: the former is defining control of an asset,
whereas the latter is defining control of an entity. However, the definitions are
based on the same basic concepts, ie that the entity has the ability to direct the
use of the asset (or the entity) so as to obtain benefits (or returns).

Definition proposed for the Conceptual Framework

The IASB proposes to use the same basic concepts to define control of an
economic resource in the Conceptual Framework. It proposes the following
definition:

An entity controls an economic resource if it has the present ability to direct the

use of the economic resource so as to obtain the economic benefits that flow from

it.
This proposed definition differs in one respect from the definition of control
used in the draft Revenue Standard. The draft Revenue Standard proposes that a
customer controls an asset when the customer is able to direct the use of and
obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from the asset. The definition
of control proposed in this Discussion Paper refers to ‘the economic benefits that
flow from the economic resource’, rather than to ‘substantially all’ of those
economic benefits. This is because the term ‘substantially all’ would be
redundant, and potentially confusing, if an entity recognises only the rights it
controls. For example, suppose that Entity A has the right to obtain 20 per cent
of the economic benefits from a building. Entity A does not have all, or even
substantially all, of the economic benefits from the building. However, Entity
A’s asset is not the building, it is the right to obtain 20 per cent of the economic
benefits from the building. Entity A has the ability to direct the use of that right
and to obtain all of the economic benefits that flow from that right.

A threshold such as ‘substantially all’ is necessary only if a Standard requires an
entity:

(a) to account for a group of rights as a single asset (unit of account); and
(b) to derecognise, on transfer of a sufficient proportion of the rights, the

whole of the original asset and recognise a new asset for the rights
retained.

In such situations, the Standard also needs to specify a threshold to identify
when a sufficient proportion of the rights have been transferred for

© IFRS Foundation 42



3.26

3.27

3.28

3.29

3.30

A REVIEW OF THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

derecognition to occur. The draft Revenue Standard specifies ‘substantially all’.
It proposes that, if the entity does not transfer substantially all the remaining
benefits from the asset to the customer, it either continues to recognise the
original asset or accounts for the contract as a lease, depending on the
circumstances. (Section 4 discusses various ways in which an entity might
report the consequences of transferring some, but not all, of the rights
associated with a resource.)

Further guidance on the definition of control

Further guidance could be added to the Conceptual Framework to clarify the
proposed definition of control. The IASB proposes that this guidance could cover
the topics discussed in paragraphs 3.27-3.34.

For an entity to control an economic resource, the economic benefits arising
from the resource must flow to the entity (either directly or indirectly) rather
than to another party. This requirement does not imply that the entity can
ensure that the resource will generate economic benefits in all circumstances.
Instead it means that, if the resource generates economic benefits, the entity is
the party that will receive them.

An entity has the ability to direct the use of an economic resource if it has the
right to deploy that economic resource in its activities or to allow another party
to deploy the economic resource in that other party’s activities. Many economic
resources take the form of legally enforceable rights, such as legal ownership or
contractually enforceable rights that establish the entity’s ability to direct the
use of the economic resource. However, sometimes an entity establishes its
ability to direct the use of an economic resource by having access that is not
available to others, for example, by having possession of the economic resource
and being able to prevent access to it by others. This can be particularly relevant
for assets such as know-how and customer lists.

An entity does not control an economic resource if it does not have the present
ability to direct the use of the economic resource. Consequently, the following
are not assets of an entity:

(a) rights of access to public goods, such as open roads, if similar rights are
available to any party at no cost.

(b) fish in water to which access is not restricted. Although a potential
source of economic benefits, this is not an economic resource of any one
entity because those benefits are available to any party. (An exclusive
right to catch fish would be an asset of an entity that has that right.
Similarly, if fishing quotas are introduced, the quota of each party would
become an asset of that party, though the rights associated with
possession of the fish would still not become an economic resource until
the fish are caught.)

(c) knowledge that is in the public domain and freely available to anyone
without significant effort or cost. No party controls such knowledge.

When determining whether an entity controls an economic resource, it is
important to identify the economic resource correctly. For example, Entities A,
B and C may jointly own real estate on terms that provide them with 25 per cent,
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40 per cent and 35 per cent respectively of the economic benefits flowing from
that real estate. In the absence of any other agreements that modify control,
each party controls its proportionate interest in the underlying economic
resource (in this example, the real estate) No single party controls the
underlying real estate in its entirety.

Control: principal and agent

An agent is a party that is primarily engaged to act on behalf of, and for the
benefit of, another party (the principal). If an entity holds a resource as agent,
rather than as principal, the economic benefits arising from the resource flow to
the principal rather than to the agent. Consequently, the agent does not control
the resource and does not have an asset. (Accordingly, the agent also has no
obligation to transfer the economic benefits derived from the asset.)

If an entity holds a resource, and is bound by a separate requirement, such as a
contractual requirement or legislation, to pass through to another party all the
economic benefits flowing from that resource, the entity holds that resource as
agent for the other party. Thus, the entity has no asset or liability.

Corresponding guidance for liabilities

The proposed definition of a liability specifies that the obligation must be an
obligation of the entity. In other words, the entity must be the party that is
bound by the obligation. This feature of the definition corresponds to the fact
that the proposed definition of an asset specifies that the entity must be the
party that controls the asset. The identity of the party bound by an obligation
will often be evident from the contracts, statutes or other evidence that establish
that the obligation exists.

If a liability exists for one party, an asset always exists for another party or
parties, except perhaps for some obligations to clean up damage to the
environment. However, for some assets, such as rights over physical objects, no
corresponding liability exists.

To transfer an economic resource

As discussed in Section 2, the IASB proposes to define a liability as a present
obligation to transfer an economic resource. The phrase “to transfer an
economic resource” is a change to the existing definition. It is consistent with
the proposal in the draft Revenue Standard to define a performance obligation
as a “promise ... to transfer a good or service to the customer.”

An obligation to transfer an economic resource may result in an entity paying
cash, transferring assets other than cash, granting a right to use an asset,
rendering services or standing ready to make a payment on the occurrence of a
future event that is outside the entity’s control.

In some cases, an entity may have an obligation that it will settle by exchanging
it for a second obligation, for example, by issuing a financial liability. If that
second obligation requires the entity to transfer an economic resource, then the
first obligation is also an obligation to transfer an economic resource.
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The following do not give rise to a present obligation to transfer an economic
resource:

(a) a requirement to provide economic resources only if, at the same time or
earlier, the entity expects to receive economic resources of equal or
greater value (see also the discussion on executory contracts in
paragraphs 3.109-3.112); and

(b) an obligation that an entity is permitted (or required) to fulfil by issuing
its own equity instruments as ‘currency’. Although those equity
instruments are a resource for the holder, they are not an economic
resource for the issuer. Consequently, an obligation to issue equity
instruments is not an obligation to transfer an economic resource. As
explained in paragraph 3.15(a), this is the case even if the issuer
previously held those equity instruments as ‘treasury shares’ (see
Section 5 for a discussion of the distinction between liabilities and equity
instruments).

Constructive obligations

Existing requirements and guidance

The IASB proposes to define a liability as an ‘obligation’. The existing Conceptual
Framework describes an obligation as “a duty or responsibility to act or perform
in a certain way.” It then states that, although obligations may be legally
enforceable as a consequence of a binding contract or statutory requirement,
they also arise from “normal business practice, custom and a desire to maintain
good business relations or act in an equitable manner” (see paragraph 4.15 of
the existing Conceptual Framework).

IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets notes that a liability can
arise from a legal obligation or from a ‘constructive obligation’, and defines the
latter as follows:

A constructive obligation is an obligation that derives from an entity’s actions where:

(a) by an established pattern of past practice, published policies or a
sufficiently specific current statement, the entity has indicated to other
parties that it will accept certain responsibilities; and

(b) as a result, the entity has created a valid expectation on the part of those
other parties that it will discharge those responsibilities.

As an example of a constructive obligation that meets the definition in
paragraph 3.40, the Implementation Guidance on IAS 37 refers to an entity’s
obligation to clean up contamination in order to comply with a widely
published policy of the entity, even in a country with no environmental
legislation.?®

IAS 19 Employee Benefits also refers to constructive obligations—it requires entities
to account for both legal and constructive obligations for employee benefits. It
describes legal obligations as arising from the formal terms of employment
contracts or benefit plans, and constructive obligations as arising from the

20 See Example 2B of Section C in the Implementation Guidance on IAS 37.
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entity’s informal practices. It states that informal practices, such as paying
bonuses in excess of those to which employees are contractually entitled, give
rise to a constructive obligation if they leave the entity with no realistic
alternative but to pay benefits, for example, if a change in those practices would
cause unacceptable damage to the entity’s relationship with its employees.?!

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment also uses the notion of constructive obligations,
though without using that specific term. In paragraph 41 it states that an entity
has a present obligation to settle a share-based payment transaction in cash if
“the entity has a past practice or a stated policy of settling in cash, or generally
settles in cash whenever the counterparty asks for cash settlement.”

Problems in practice

Some people using IFRS have reported that it can be difficult to judge whether,
and to what extent, an entity’s past practices, policies or statements are
sufficient, in the absence of legal enforceability, to have created a valid
expectation among other parties that the entity will accept specific
responsibilities.

Furthermore, it can be difficult to interpret the definition of ‘constructive
obligation’. Some people have argued that it encompasses situations in which
an entity is economically compelled to take a particular course of action in the
future because that action will be so much more economically advantageous—or
less economically disadvantageous—than any of the available alternatives.
However, the IASB and the Interpretations Committee have taken a different
view. For example, when the European Union issued a directive that prompted
IFRIC 6 Liabilities arising from Participating in a Specific Market—Waste Electrical and
Electronic Equipment, questions arose about whether a constructive obligation
existed. The directive required manufacturers of electrical and electronic
equipment to contribute to the costs of the disposal of equipment that was
manufactured in earlier periods (‘historical waste’), with each manufacturer’s
contribution being proportional to its market share in a specified period (the
‘measurement period’). Some people argued that manufacturers had a
constructive obligation for the costs of historical waste before the measurement
period: “when it would be necessary for the entity to undertake an unrealistic
action in order to avoid the obligation then a constructive obligation exists and
should be accounted for” (see paragraph BC9 of IFRIC 6). However, the
Interpretations Committee rejected this argument, concluding that “a stated
intention to participate in a market during a future measurement period does
not create a constructive obligation for future waste management costs” (see
paragraph BC10 of IFRIC 6).

It is perhaps not surprising that people think that economic compulsion can be
sufficient to create a constructive obligation. Some (older) Standards identify

21 See paragraph 4(c) of IAS 19. The description of a constructive obligation in IAS 19, including the
notion of ‘no realistic alternative’, was based on the Exposure Draft that preceded IAS 37. The IASB’s
predecessor, the IASC, did not conform the wording in IAS 19 to the final wording in IAS 37 because
it did not have a practice of making consequential amendments to other Standards.
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constructive obligations in situations in which the entity might be economically
compelled to act in a particular way, but does not necessarily have an obligation
to another party to do so. For example:

(a) paragraph 72 of IAS 37 identifies an entity as having a ‘constructive
obligation’ to restructure a business once it has announced, or started to
implement, a detailed restructuring plan; and

(b) IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting identifies a lessee as having a
constructive obligation for contingent lease rentals at its interim
reporting date, if it expects to achieve, by the end of the period, a
specified level of sales above which contingent lease rentals would
become payable.

In the contingent lease rental example, any obligation that the lessee has to the
lessor is a legal (contractual) one. There is no constructive obligation arising in
advance of the contractual obligation—the lessee does not have a constructive
obligation to continue to make sales for the rest of its reporting period. The
term ‘constructive obligation’ appears to have been used in IAS 34 to justify the
recognition of a liability before the contractual obligation has become
unconditional, ie while the outcome depends on the entity’s future actions.

Possible solutions

People might be less likely to mis-label contractual liabilities (such as contingent
lease rentals) as constructive obligations if the IASB provides additional
guidance on obligations that are conditional on future events. Potential
guidance is discussed in paragraphs 3.63-3.97. If the Conceptual Framework
clarifies that obligations can give rise to liabilities before all conditions have
been satisfied, people might be less inclined to use the notion of a ‘constructive
obligation’ as the justification for recognising a liability in these situations.

The IASB could take further steps to improve comparability and distinguish
constructive obligations from economic compulsion. These steps could involve:

(a) adding further guidance to support the definition of a constructive
obligation (see paragraphs 3.50-3.54); or

(b) limiting the definition of a liability to obligations that another party
could enforce against the entity (see paragraphs 3.55-3.61).

Add further guidance to support the definition of ‘constructive
obligation’

One approach would be to add guidance to support the definition of
‘constructive obligation’. Additional guidance could emphasise that, for an
entity to have a constructive obligation:

(a) it must have a duty or responsibility to another party or parties. It is
not sufficient that an entity will be economically compelled to act in its
own best interests or in the best interests of its shareholders.

(b) the other party or parties must be those who would benefit from the
entity fulfilling its duty or responsibility or suffer loss or harm if the
entity fails to fulfil its duty or responsibility. In other words, the other
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party or parties must be those to whom, or on whose behalf, the entity is
required to transfer an economic resource.

() as a result of the entity’s past actions, the other party or parties can
reasonably rely on the entity to discharge its duty or responsibility.

Further guidance could be added to clarify (as paragraph 20 of IAS 37 already
does) that it is not necessary to know the identity of the party or parties to whom
the obligation is owed—indeed the obligation may be to the public at large.

Adding this guidance should not undermine existing requirements for
well-understood examples of constructive obligations—such as to rehabilitate
land to a standard beyond that required by law, or to pay employee benefits in
excess of those to which the employee is contractually entitled. For such
obligations, there is usually a counterparty that is reasonably relying on the
entity to discharge its responsibilities. However, the guidance would clarify
that, although an entity might be economically compelled to continue to
operate in a particular market or to restructure an underperforming business,
such economic compulsion does not in itself amount to a constructive
obligation.

The IASB proposed this approach in June 2005 in its Exposure Draft of Proposed
Amendments to IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and IAS 19
Employee Benefits. The IASB proposed additional guidance similar to that set out
in paragraph 3.50 and, on the basis of that guidance, concluded, in paragraph 15
of that Exposure Draft, that an entity does not have a constructive obligation to
restructure a business, even if it has announced, or started to implement, a
detailed restructuring plan. This is because it has no obligation to others and is
not bound by its plan, and so it can avoid an outflow of resources (as discussed in
paragraph BC68 in that Exposure Draft). Consequently, the IASB proposed to
delete from IAS 37 the requirements for recognising restructuring provisions
and replace them with a statement that “a cost associated with a restructuring is
recognised on the same basis as if that cost arose independently of the
restructuring” (see paragraph 62 of that Exposure Draft).

The proposed changes to the requirements for restructuring costs—which would
have aligned IAS 37 with US generally accepted accounting principles (US GAAP),
and would still have required entities to identify liabilities for some individual
costs associated with a restructuring—were supported by most of those
commenting on this aspect of the Exposure Draft. However, the IASB never
implemented the proposed changes to IAS 37 because it halted its project to
amend that Standard in the light of comments received on some other changes
proposed in the Exposure Draft.

Limit the definition of a liability to obligations that another party could
enforce against the entity

Alternatively, the IASB could make a more substantial change. Instead of
emphasising the need for an obligation to be to another party, the IASB could
limit the definition of a liability to obligations that another party could enforce
against the entity.
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The IASB developed such an approach during the Elements and Recognition
phase of its Conceptual Framework project in 2007-2008. The IASB tentatively
approved a working definition of a liability that would require the obligation to
be “enforceable against the entity by legal or equivalent means.” Additional
draft guidance explained that ‘equivalent means’ would be those in which there
was both an enforcement mechanism and a separate party to operate the
mechanism. Examples of equivalent means included:

(a) the disciplinary procedures of a selfregulatory body; and

(b) an arbitration mechanism set up by a commodity exchange to resolve
disputes between member traders.

Legally enforceable obligations include those that are established by contract or
imposed by government. In some jurisdictions, some constructive obligations
(as defined in IAS 37) may also be legally enforceable. However, in other cases,
they may not be.

Defining a liability as an obligation that is enforceable by legal or equivalent
means could eliminate the need to define a constructive obligation.

Any requirement for an obligation to be enforceable by legal or equivalent
means would refer to the mechanism that creates an obligation. It would not
affect the assessment of when that obligation arises. In other words, it would
not rule out obligations that would become enforceable only on the occurrence
of an uncertain future event. It could therefore be applied with any of the
approaches discussed in paragraphs 3.75-3.89.

In favour of restricting the definition of a liability to obligations that are
enforceable by legal or equivalent means, it could be argued that:

(a) if a future transfer of resources is not enforceable against the entity, it is
not an obligation. An entity is not bound by another party ‘reasonably
relying’ on it to continue its past practices or policies. The entity retains
the discretion to balance the benefits of transferring resources (such as
maintaining good relationships or avoiding reputational damage)
against the costs. If the entity faces financial difficulties, it could change
its policies or practices and avoid the transfer of resources. In other
words, any future transfer will be discretionary and should be recognised
when discretion is exercised.

(b) restricting liabilities to enforceable obligations could improve
comparability. Identifying a constructive obligation requires the entity
to judge whether another party can ‘reasonably rely’ on the entity to
discharge specified responsibilities. Such judgements could be
subjective. Arguably, evidence of enforceability is the most tangible
evidence that the other party could rely on the entity to discharge its
responsibilities.

() restricting liabilities to enforceable obligations would provide users of
financial statements with relevant information about the obligations
that an entity cannot avoid. For some transactions, it might also be
appropriate to require disclosure of information about other
(unenforceable) costs that the entity expects to incur in the future in
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relation to past activities (for example, for discretionary rehabilitation of
previous environmental damage). Any disclosure requirements could be
considered in individual Standards.

However, arguments against restricting the definition of a liability to
enforceable obligations include:

(a) an approach that excludes some constructive obligations could provide
less relevant information to users of financial statements about the
entity’s future cash flows relating to past activities. For example,
suppose a mining company has a well-publicised policy of restoring
environmental damage to the same standard throughout the world. If,
for each jurisdiction in which it operates, it recognised a liability for
only the costs that it could be forced to incur as a result of the legal
requirements in that jurisdiction, it would not recognise the full
expected costs of its mining activities for the period.

(b) if the IASB is concerned about comparability for any particular types of
transaction it could, when developing or revising a Standard, require
recognition of liabilities for that type of transaction only if the liabilities
are legally enforceable. The US national standard-setter, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) took this approach when setting its
requirements for asset retirement obligations. The definition of a
liability in paragraphs 36 and 40 of the FASB Concepts Statement No. 6
Elements of Financial Statements encompasses legal, equitable and
constructive obligations, including obligations that are not legally
enforceable. However, the FASB’s requirements for asset retirement
obligations (Topic 410-20-15 Asset Retirement and Environmental Obligations
of the FASB Accounting Standards Codification”) apply only to legal
obligations.?? The FASB concluded that determining when a constructive
obligation exists can be very subjective, so restricting the requirements
to legal obligations would achieve a more consistent application (see
paragraph B16 of FASB Statement No. 143 Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations).

Preliminary view on constructive obligations

The IASB’s preliminary view is that the Conceptual Framework should not limit the
definition of a liability to obligations that are enforceable by legal or equivalent
means. The IASB tentatively favours retaining the existing definition of a
liability—which encompasses both legal and constructive obligations—and
adding more guidance to help distinguish constructive obligations from
economic compulsion. The guidance should clarify the matters listed in
paragraph 3.50.

‘Present’ obligation

The IASB proposes to define a liability as a ‘present’ obligation to transfer an
economic resource as a result of past events. A present obligation is one that

22 The FASB Codification defines a legal obligation as: “An obligation that a party is required to settle
as a result of an existing or enacted law, statute, ordinance, or written or oral contract or by legal
construction of a contract under the doctrine of promissory estoppel.”
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exists at the reporting date. The economic resource to be transferred need not
exist at that date, nor need the entity control it already at that date. In many
cases, an entity has a present obligation that it will fulfil with economic
resources that it will acquire in the future.

To identify a liability it is necessary to distinguish between present obligations
and possible future obligations.

A present obligation must have arisen ‘as a result of past events’. An entity
typically incurs an obligation to transfer an economic resource in exchange for
receiving a different economic resource or as a result of conducting an activity
for which another party seeks payment from the entity. For example:

(@) an entity incurs an obligation to transfer goods and services to a
customer in exchange for consideration received from that customer.

(b) an entity may incur an obligation to pay a tax or a levy as a result of
earning revenue or profits. The amount of the obligation would be
determined by reference to the revenues or profits earned.

(c) an entity may incur an obligation to compensate an injured party as a
result of having committed an act of wrongdoing.

A liability can be viewed as having arisen from past events if the amount of the
liability will be determined by reference to benefits received, or activities
conducted, by the entity before the end of the reporting period. Activities
conducted by the entity could include, for example, making sales, earning
profits or even operating on a particular date—the important fact is that the
amount of the liability is determined by reference to that activity.

However, difficulties are encountered in practice because it is unclear whether
those past events are sufficient to create a present obligation to transfer an
economic resource if such a transfer remains conditional on future events that
have not occurred, or on further actions that the entity has not taken, by the
reporting date.

These difficulties have arisen both for the IASB, when developing new Standards,
and for the Interpretations Committee and others, when interpreting existing
Standards. The frequent difficulties suggest that the existing Conceptual
Framework is not sufficiently clear in this area and that further guidance is
required.

There can be two types of future events on which an obligation remains
conditional:

(a) those whose occurrence is outside the control of the entity (see
paragraphs 3.70-3.71); and

(b) those whose occurrence depends on the entity’s future actions (see
paragraphs 3.72-3.97).

Future events outside the control of the entity

With some obligations, the requirement to transfer an economic resource will
depend on the occurrence of future events that are outside the control of the
entity. Such obligations include, for example:
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(a) an insurer’s obligation to compensate a policyholder on the occurrence
of an insured event, such as damage to property;

(b) a guarantor’s obligation to compensate a lender if a borrower defaults;

() an entity’s obligation to redeem a financial instrument for cash if the
holder of the instrument exercises an option to require redemption; or

(d) an entity’s obligation to make an additional payment for purchased
plant or equipment if the plant or equipment proves to be capable of
operating to standards specified in the purchase contract.

Obligations of this kind are sometimes called ‘stand-ready obligations’.
Although the entity does not know at the reporting date whether it will be
required to transfer resources, it has an unconditional obligation to stand ready
to transfer the resources if the specified future event occurs. The IASB has
concluded that these unconditional obligations are present obligations that
meet the definition of a liability. The requirements of several recent and
proposed Standards—such as the draft Revenue Standard and the Exposure Draft
Insurance Contracts that was published in June 2013—reflect this conclusion. The
IASB thinks that it will be helpful if the Conceptual Framework also states the
conclusion in general terms.

Future events that depend on the entity’s future actions

There has also been debate about whether a ‘present’ obligation exists if the
eventual need to transfer economic resources depends on the entity’s future
actions. Is it sufficient that the entity has already received an economic resource
or conducted an activity that will determine the amount of any future transfer?
Or is it also necessary that the entity has no ability to avoid the future transfer
through its future actions? The existing Conceptual Framework does not address
this question and the principles underlying individual Standards can appear to
be inconsistent.

The following scenarios are examples of transactions for which this question
arises.?

Scenario 1: employee bonus with vesting conditions

Under the terms of its employment contracts with a group of employees, an
entity will pay a bonus to each employee who completes five years’ service with
the entity. The employees have completed two of the five years’ service at the
end of the reporting period. If the entity terminates an employment contract
before the end of the vesting period (ie before the five years’ service is complete),
it will not be required to pay any bonus to the employee.

Scenario 2: levy on revenues above a threshold

A government charges a levy on entities that operate trains on the national rail
network. The levy is charged at the end of each calendar year. The levy is 1 per
cent of revenue earned in the year in excess of CU500 million. A train operator

23 As explained in paragraphs 1.22 and 1.24, this Discussion Paper includes examples to illustrate the
problems that the IASB is seeking to address. The IASB will not necessarily amend existing
requirements for the transactions illustrated in the examples.

© IFRS Foundation 52



3.74

A REVIEW OF THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

is preparing financial statements for its financial reporting year to 30 June. It
has earned revenue of CU450 million between 1 January and 30 June. It expects
to have earned revenue of CU900 million by the end of the calendar year and
hence to be charged a levy of CU4 million for the year.?*

Scenario 3: levy on revenues

A government imposes a levy on entities that supply electricity to a domestic
energy market on or after 1 April each year. The levy charged on that date is
measured as a percentage of the operator’s revenue in the previous calendar
year. An electricity supplier is preparing financial statements for the period
ending on 31 December 20X0. In that year, it earned revenue of CU100 million.
It will be charged a levy only if it is still supplying electricity to the specified
market on 1 April 20X1.

Scenario 4: levy that accumulates over the reporting period

A government imposes a levy on banks. The levy is charged on any entity that is
operating as a bank at the end of its financial reporting period. The levy is
calculated as a percentage of the bank’s liabilities at the end of that period. The
percentage depends on the length of the bank’s reporting period and on the
rates in force during that period. In 20X2, the rates are 0.1 per cent per month
from January-June and 0.2 per cent per month from July-December. A bank’s
financial reporting period began on 1 April 20X2. The bank is preparing interim
financial statements at 30 September 20X2.

Scenario 5: levy on market share

Legislation will require manufacturers of electronic equipment to contribute, at
a future date, to the costs of disposing of ‘historical waste’, ie equipment that
was manufactured before the legislation came into force. Each manufacturer
will be charged an amount that is proportional to its share of the market in
20X4. An electronic equipment manufacturer is preparing financial statements
as at 31 December 20X3.

Scenario 6: variable lease payments

An entity enters into an agreement to lease a retail unit in a shopping mall. The
lease agreement requires the entity to pay a variable rental of 1 per cent of its
monthly sales to the lessor. The lease commences on the last day of the entity’s
reporting period. The first variable payment will be calculated by reference to
the entity’s sales in the first month of the next reporting period.

Scenario 7: contingent consideration

A contract for the sale of a business requires the acquirer to make an additional
payment of CUS5 million to the seller if the acquired business meets specified
earnings targets in the three years after acquisition. The acquirer is preparing
financial statements at the acquisition date. Available evidence suggests that it
is highly likely that the acquired business will exceed the earnings targets.

In each of the scenarios set out in paragraph 3.73, any requirement to transfer
an economic resource is conditional on the entity’s future actions. The question

24 (CU900 million — CU500 million) x 1%
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is whether, in such situations, the entity has a present obligation. Three
alternative views are discussed in paragraphs 3.75-3.97.

View 1: a present obligation must have arisen from past events and be
strictly unconditional

One view is that a present obligation must have arisen from past events and be
strictly unconditional. The amount of a future transfer might be determined by
reference to the entity’s past activities. But, for as long as the entity could, at
least in theory, avoid the transfer of resources through its future actions, it does
not have a present obligation. In other words, if an entity must take a series of
actions before it has an unconditional obligation, no liability exists until it has
taken all of the actions.

Applying this view, there would not be a present obligation in any of the
scenarios set out in paragraph 3.73. In each case, the future transfer is
conditional on a future action that the entity could, at least in theory, avoid
taking.

Table 3.1: applying View 1 to the scenarios

Scenario Present Reason
obligation?
1 Employee bonus with vesting No The employer could terminate employment
conditions contracts before the end of the vesting
period.
2 Levy on revenues above a No
threshold

The rail operator, electricity supplier, bank

and electronic equipment manufacturer

3 Levy on revenues No
could stop operating in the relevant market
4 Levy that accumulates over the No before the date or threshold at which a levy
reporting period would become chargeable.
5 Levy on market share No
6 Variable lease payments No The lessee could avoid making sales from
the leased retail unit.
7 Contingent consideration No The acquirer could conduct the operations

of the acquired business so that it fails to

meet specified earnings targets.

View 2: a present obligation must have arisen from past events and be
practically unconditional

The view described in paragraph 3.75 requires a present obligation to be strictly
unconditional. It identifies a present obligation by reference to the last in the
series of actions that an entity must take before it is unconditionally required to
transfer a resource to another party. However, the last action might be a
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relatively minor one—an incidental condition that may have some commercial
substance but that the entity does not have the practical ability to avoid in its
particular circumstances.

It could be argued that, in such circumstances, treating the last event or action
as the one that creates a present obligation does not faithfully represent the
entity’s financial position. A more faithful representation would identify as
liabilities all obligations to transfer an economic resource:

(a) that have arisen as a result of past events, ie that will be measured by
reference to benefits received, or activities conducted, by the entity
before the end of the reporting period (see paragraph 3.66); and

(b) that the entity has no practical ability to avoid through its future
actions.

The assessment of whether an entity has the practical ability to avoid any
remaining conditions would require judgement. Guidance might be needed
(possibly in individual Standards) to identify the types of condition that an
entity might not have the practical ability to avoid. Arguably, these conditions
might include, for example, conditions that the entity could avoid only by
ceasing to operate as a going concern, significantly curtailing operations or
leaving specific markets.

Further guidance might be needed to address situations in which the amount of
the future transfer will depend on the extent to which the entity carries out an
activity, for example, if future lease payments are a proportion of the entity’s
future revenue. A lessee might have the practical ability to avoid some, but not
all, of the future activity.

The judgement about whether an entity has no practical ability to avoid a future
transfer will depend on the specific facts and circumstances. Table 3.2
illustrates the judgements that might be reached in the scenarios set out in
paragraph 3.73.

55 © |FRS Foundation



DiscussioN PAPER—JuLY 2013

Table 3.2: applying View 2 to the scenarios

liability.

Scenario Present Reason
obligation?

1 Employee Yes, depending | The bonus is payable in exchange for, and measured by reference to, service received
bonus with on from employees. The employer has received two years’ service at the reporting date.
vesting circumstances
conditions The employer can avoid paying the bonus only by terminating the employment contracts

of all eligible employees before the end of the vesting period. It might argue that it has
no practical ability to do so.

The present obligation would be for the portion of the total expected bonus attributable
to the benefits already received, ie the first two years of service.

2 Levy on Yes, in most The rail operator has started to receive the benefits (earn the revenue) by reference to
revenues circumstances | which the levy will be measured. The rail operator would need to curtail its operations
above a significantly to avoid the levy. In most circumstances, it will not have the practical
threshold ability to take such action to avoid a levy.

3 Levy on Yes, in most The electricity supplier has received the benefits (revenues) on which the levy will be
revenues circumstances | calculated. It could avoid the levy only by leaving the market before 1 April of the

following year. In most circumstances, it will not have the practical ability to leave the
market before that date.

4 Levy that Yes, in most The bank has operated in the period over which the levy accumulates. In most
accumulates | circumstances | circumstances, it will not have the practical ability to stop operating as a bank before
over the the end of its financial reporting period.
reporting
period (The portion of the levy that would be attributable to the first half year is 0.9 per cent of

the bank’s expected period-end liabilities.)®

5 Levy on No There is no past event from which an obligation has arisen. The requirement to pay a
market share levy will be measured by reference to only one activity, namely participation in the

market in 20X4. The entity has not started this activity at the reporting date.

6 Variable Yes, to the The lessee has received a right-of-use asset in exchange for which it will have to pay
lease extent that the | the lessor 1 per cent of sales it makes during the lease period. In many circumstances,
payments retailer does it will not have the practical ability to avoid making any sales.

not have the
practical ability
to avoid future
sales®

7 Contingent Maybe, The acquirer has received the acquired business, in exchange for which it will have to
consideration | depending on pay CU5 million if the business meets earnings targets. The managers of the acquired

the business would have to take steps to reduce earnings below the target to avoid the
circumstances | payment. Whether they can do so might depend on the facts and circumstances.

(@) [Three months (April-June) x 0.1%] + [three months (July-September) x 0.2%].

(b) This view assumes that the lessee’s right of use and obligation to transfer a proportion of the
proceeds of use should be accounted for as a separate asset and liability. An alternative view
might be that the lessor has a smaller asset (an encumbered right of use) and no separate
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The identification of a liability in each of these scenarios would not necessarily
lead to the recognition of that liability. The liability might not satisfy the
recognition criteria discussed in Section 4. For example, in developing or
amending requirements for leases in accordance with the criteria in this
Discussion Paper, the IASB might decide that:

(@) recognition of a lessee’s present obligation to make variable lease
payments—and an equal amount as a right-of-use asset—would provide
users of financial statements with information that is not relevant, or
not sufficiently relevant to justify the cost; or

(b) no measure would result in a sufficiently faithful representation of the
obligation to make variable lease payments, and of changes in that
obligation, even if all necessary descriptions and explanations are
disclosed.

An entity might have no practical ability to avoid some future operating
costs—such as the following month’s employee salaries. However, these future
costs do not give rise to a liability at the reporting date if the amount of the
obligation is determined solely by reference to future receipts or activities. Even
if the entity has entered a binding contract to purchase goods or services, it does
not have a net obligation to transfer an economic resource unless the contract is
onerous. Until it receives the goods or services, the contract is executory and, as
discussed further in paragraph 3.111, executory contracts to receive or deliver
goods or services are typically measured at zero in practice, unless the contracts
are Onerous.

View 3: a present obligation must have arisen from past events but
may be conditional on the entity’s future actions

The first two views discussed in this section are that, for a present obligation to
exist, it is not sufficient that the entity has received an economic resource or
conducted an activity on which the amount of possible future transfer will be
determined. It is also necessary that the obligation is either strictly
unconditional (View 1) or practically unconditional (View 2).

An alternative view is that the past event is sufficient to create a present
obligation: it is not necessary for the obligation to be (strictly or practically)
unconditional. An obligation arises when the entity receives a resource or
conducts an activity, in exchange for which another party will be able to
demand a transfer of resources if the entity meets further conditions. As soon as
the entity has received the resource or conducted the activity, it no longer has
complete discretion to avoid a future transfer. The future transfer may be
conditional on the entity’s future actions but the obligation has arisen from past
events (the past receipt or activity) and so is a present obligation.

The entity has a liability if, on meeting the further conditions specified, it will be
required:

(@) to transfer an economic resource that it would not have been required to
transfer without the past receipt or activity; or
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(b) to exchange economic resources with another party on more onerous
terms than would have been required without the past receipt or
activity.

3.87 The rationale for this third view is similar to the rationale given in paragraph 72

of IAS 19 for requiring entities to recognise liabilities for the estimated costs of
unvested employee benefits, ie that “at the end of each successive reporting
period, the amount of future service that an employee will have to render before

becoming entitled to the benefit is reduced.”

Table 3.3: applying View 3 to the scenarios

Scenario Present Reason
obligation?

1 Employee Yes The bonus is payable in exchange for, and measured by
bonus with reference to, service received from employees. The employer
vesting has received two years’ service at the reporting date.
conditions

2 Levy on Yes The rail operator has started to receive the benefits (earn the
revenues revenue) by reference to which the levy will be measured.
above a
threshold

3 Levy on Yes The electricity supplier has received the benefits (revenues)
revenues on which the levy will be calculated.

4 Levy that Yes The bank has operated in the period over which the levy
accumulates accumulates. (The portion of the levy that is attributable to its
over the first half year is 0.9 per cent of the bank’s expected
reporting period-end liabilities.)®
period

5 Levy on No There is no past event from which an obligation has arisen.
market share The requirement to pay a levy will be measured by reference

to only one activity, namely participation in the market in
20X4. The entity has not started this activity at the reporting
date.

6 Variable lease | Yes® The lessee has received a right-of-use asset in exchange for
payments which it will have to pay the lessor 1 per cent of sales it

makes during the lease period.

7 Contingent Yes The acquirer has received the acquired business, in exchange
consideration for which it will have to pay CU5 million if the business meets

earnings targets.

(@) [Three months (April-June) x 0.1%] + [three months (July-September) x 0.2%].

(b) This view assumes that the lessee’s right of use and obligation to transfer a
proportion of the proceeds of use should be accounted for as a separate asset and
liability. An alternative view might be that the lessor has a smaller asset (an
encumbered right of use) and no separate liability.
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As explained in paragraph 3.82, the identification of a liability in each of the
scenarios would not necessarily lead to the recognition of that liability. In some
of the cases the liability might not satisfy the recognition criteria discussed in
Section 4.

Common features of the three views

Whichever of these views is applied, the following would not meet the definition
of a present obligation:

(a) requirements to make payments that would arise only on liquidation (for
example, payments to ordinary shareholders on liquidation and costs
that the entity would incur only on liquidation). As noted in
paragraph 4.1 of the existing Conceptual Framework, financial statements
are normally prepared on the assumption that an entity is a going
concern and will continue to operate for the foreseeable future.
Whether the going concern assumption has any other implications for
financial reporting is discussed in Section 9.

(b) losses that an entity expects to incur if it chooses to stay in business, but
will avoid if it closes the business. A future loss does not arise from a
past event. Consequently, it does not create a present obligation to
transfer an economic resource.

Implications of the three views for emissions trading schemes
The IASB has on its agenda a research project on emissions trading schemes.

Emissions trading schemes are designed to achieve a reduction of greenhouse
gases through the use of tradable emission allowances. One of the common
types of scheme is a ‘cap and trade’ scheme, in which a central authority (for
example, the government) sets an overall cap on the amount of emissions that
can be released in a specified compliance period. The central authority
implements the cap by issuing a limited number of tradable ‘emission
allowances’. Each emission allowance provides a right to emit a specified
quantity of a greenhouse gas. The central authority typically issues these
allowances either:

(a) in a process referred to as ‘allocation’, whereby participants receive
allowances free of charge; or

(b) in an auction, whereby participants pay to acquire allowances.

An entity that participates in the scheme has an obligation to deliver back
allowances for the greenhouse gas it has emitted during the compliance period.
Entities can trade their allowances. Accordingly, an entity that has allowances
in excess of its actual or likely emissions can sell its allowances to another entity
that requires allowances because of growth in emissions or an inability to make
cost-effective reductions in emissions.

One question that arises is how an entity should measure in its financial
statements any assets (tradable allowances) that it has received free of charge in
an allocation process. Another question is when an entity should recognise a
liability for its obligation to return allowances.
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Any guidance added to the Conceptual Framework on the meaning of ‘present’
obligation could affect the conclusions that the IASB reaches on the latter
question. Applying View 1 (a present obligation must be strictly unconditional),
the IASB might conclude that the receipt of allowances through allocation does
not give rise to a present obligation to return any allowances—such a liability
arises only as the entity emits greenhouse gases. Applying View 2 (a present
obligation is one that the entity has no practical ability to avoid through its
future actions), the IASB might conclude that a liability to return allowances
received through allocation arises on receipt of the allowances, but only to the
extent that the entity does not have the practical ability to avoid emitting
greenhouse gases. Applying View 3 (a present obligation must arise from past
events but may be conditional on the entity’s future actions), the IASB might
conclude that a conditional obligation to return allowances received through
allocation arises when the allowances are received, with that obligation
reducing over the compliance period as the entity earns the right to keep (and
sell) some allowances, or increasing as the entity emits allowances at a rate that
implies it will need to buy more in the market.

However, applying any of the views, the IASB’s conclusions might depend on
factors that are not considered in this Discussion Paper—such as the way in
which allowances are recognised and measured as assets, and the ways in which
the IASB analyses the entity’s package of rights and obligations arising under the
scheme. The IASB intends to consider those matters in more depth as part of its
research project.

Preliminary view on the meaning of ‘present’ obligation

The IASB has tentatively rejected the view that an obligation must be strictly
unconditional (View 1). It does not think that an entity should omit from its
financial statements liabilities that have arisen from past events and that the
entity has no practical ability to avoid. Doing so would exclude relevant
information about the inevitable future costs of the entity’s past actions.

The IASB has not reached a preliminary view on whether the definition of a
liability should include only those liabilities that the entity has no practical
ability to avoid (View 2) or whether it should also include conditional
obligations that the entity might be able to avoid through its future actions but
that have nevertheless arisen as a result of past events (View 3).

Reporting the substance of contractual rights and
contractual obligations

Introduction

An important class of resources and obligations arises under contracts. Entering
into a contract gives rise to contractual rights and obligations if those rights and
obligations are enforceable.

This section considers whether there should be more guidance in the Conceptual
Framework on identifying the substance of contractual rights and contractual
obligations.
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Existing requirements and guidance

To give a faithful representation of an entity’s contractual rights and
obligations, financial statements should report their substance. Paragraph 4.6
of the existing Conceptual Framework states that “in assessing whether an item
meets the definition of an asset, liability or equity, attention needs to be given to
its underlying substance and economic reality and not merely its legal form.”
Some individual Standards also refer to substance. For example, paragraph 18 of
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation states that “the substance of a financial
instrument, rather than its legal form, governs its classification in the entity’s
statement of financial position”.

The existing Conceptual Framework gives little further guidance on assessing the
substance of contractual rights and obligations. However, several Standards give
guidance for specific types of transaction, for example:

(@) several Standards require entities to disregard contractual terms that
have ‘no commercial substance’, ‘lack commercial substance’ or are ‘not
substantive’. For example, paragraph B23 of IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts
requires entities to identify the existence of significant insurance risk
“excluding scenarios that lack commercial substance”. Paragraph 41 of
IFRS 2 states that an entity with a choice of settling a share-based
payment transaction either in cash or by issuing equity instruments “has
a present obligation to settle in cash if the choice of settlement in equity
instruments has no commercial substance”. And paragraph B22 of
IFRS 10 requires an investor to consider only substantive rights in
assessing whether it controls an investee.

(b) paragraph B22 of IFRS 10 provides guidance that “for a right to be
substantive, the holder must have the practical ability to exercise that
right”. IFRS 10 also gives several examples of factors that might affect an
acquirer’s practical ability to exercise its rights relating to an investee.
These factors include, for example, barriers—such as financial penalties
and incentives—that prevent or deter the holder from exercising its
rights (see paragraph B23(a) of IFRS 10).

(c) paragraph B23 of IFRS 4 defines a scenario that lacks commercial
substance as one that has “no discernible effect on the economics of the
transaction.”

Proposed guidance

Consistent principles underlie the guidance in those Standards. The IASB thinks
that it would be helpful to add those underlying principles to the Conceptual
Framework itself. The Conceptual Framework could state that:

(a) an entity should report the substance of a contract. In some cases, the
legal form of a contract is an important part of the substance of the
contract. In other cases, the legal form is only a minor part of the
substance of the contract.
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(b) a group or series of contracts that achieves, or is designed to achieve, an
overall commercial effect should be viewed as a whole. One situation in
which this treatment may be particularly important is if rights or
obligations in one contract entirely negate obligations or rights in
another contract.

(c) conversely, if a single contract contains two or more sets of rights and
obligations that would all have been identical if they had been created
through more than one legal document, the entity may need to account
for the different sets of rights as if they were separate contracts.

(d) all terms—whether explicit or implied—should be taken into
consideration. Implied terms could include, for example, obligations
imposed by statute, such as statutory warranty obligations imposed on
entities that enter into contracts for the sale of goods to customers.

(e) terms that have no commercial substance should be disregarded. A term
has no commercial substance if it has no discernible effect on the
economics of the contract. Terms that have no commercial substance
could include, for example:

(1) terms that bind neither party; and

(i) rights (including options) that the holder will not have the
practical ability to exercise.

() if, after disregarding options with no commercial substance, an option
holder has only one remaining option, that option is in substance a
requirement.

The role of economic compulsion in assessing the substance of
contractual obligations

Problems in practice

Some people have asked the IASB for further guidance on the role of economic
compulsion in assessing the substance of contractual obligations. They have
noted that existing guidance on this matter can appear inconsistent. For
example, in 2006, the IASB discussed the role of economic compulsion in
identifying contractual obligations within financial instruments. It stated that
“a contractual obligation could be established explicitly or indirectly, but it
must be established through the terms and conditions of the instrument. Thus,
by itself, economic compulsion would not result in a financial instrument being
classified as a liability applying IAS 32.”?° In contrast, in some more recent
projects, the IASB has tentatively decided to require an entity to take into
account ‘significant economic incentives’ when assessing the extent of its
contractual rights and obligations. For example, in its Exposure Draft Leases,
published in May 2013, the IASB proposes that the lease payments included in a
lessee’s lease liability should include the exercise price of a purchase option if
the lessee has a significant economic incentive to exercise that option.

25 IASB Update, June 2006.
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Problems that arise in practice often relate to the role of economic compulsion
when the entity is determining the appropriate classification—ie as liabilities or
equity—of particular types of financial instrument, such as that described in
Example 3.1.

Example 3.1: financial instrument with ‘dividend blocker’ and ‘step-up’
clauses

The terms of a financial instrument are such that the issuer has no
contractual obligation to pay an annual dividend to the holder, and no
contractual obligation ever to redeem the financial instrument. However:

(a) the issuer has an option to pay a dividend of a specified amount.
Unless the issuer pays the full amount, it cannot pay any dividend to
its ordinary shareholders.

(b) the issuer has an option to redeem the financial instrument at a
specified future date. If it does not redeem the financial instrument
on that date, the dividend ‘steps up’ to an amount that would give a
cost of finance higher than the issuer would otherwise have to incur.

In this example, the issuer appears to have options, but not obligations.
However, the ‘step-up’ clause may economically compel the issuer to redeem the
financial instrument on the specified date. Otherwise, it could suffer a higher
cost of finance than it would otherwise have to incur. Thus, the holders can be
reasonably assured of receiving the redemption proceeds (including any
‘discretionary’ dividends not already paid before redemption), ie the same
benefits as the holders of fixed-rate debt.

Possible solutions

Depending on the specific terms of the step-up clause, the guidance proposed in
paragraph 3.102 might be sufficient to lead to a conclusion that the financial
instrument is in substance a liability. If the terms of the step-up clause are so
disadvantageous to the issuer that the financial instrument is priced and
behaves like fixed-term debt, it could be argued that the option to not redeem
the financial instrument on the specified date has ‘no discernible effect on the
economics of the transaction’. In that case, applying the guidance proposed in
paragraph 3.102(e), the entity would disregard this option. The issuer would
have only one remaining ‘option’, namely to redeem the financial instrument.
Applying the guidance proposed in paragraph 3.102(f), this single remaining
‘option” would be regarded as a requirement—an obligation to redeem—which
would mean that the financial instrument contains a liability.

However, the analysis might be less straightforward if the terms of the step-up
clause give some commercial substance to the issuer’s option not to redeem.
Although it is highly likely that the issuer will redeem the financial instrument
on the specified date, it is possible that in some circumstances it will opt not to,
for example, if it is in severe financial difficulties at the time.

The TASB thinks that, even if the option not to redeem the financial instrument
has some commercial substance, the overall substance of some such financial
instruments might still be that of a liability, not equity. Although economic
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compulsion does not in itself create an obligation in the absence of a contract or
other legal mechanism, it might be appropriate to take economic compulsion or
significant economic incentives into account when determining whether a
contractual claim against the entity is a liability or part of equity. However, the
IASB thinks that it should consider any further requirements or guidance on this
matter in the context of specific transactions, ie when developing or revising
particular Standards, rather than in the Conceptual Framework. Hence, it proposes
to limit the guidance in the Conceptual Framework to widely applicable principles,
such as those set out in paragraph 3.102.

Executory contracts and other forward contracts

Executory contracts are contracts under which neither party has performed any
of its obligations or both parties have partially performed their obligations to an
equal extent (see paragraph 3 of IAS 37). Paragraph 4.46 of the existing
Conceptual Framework briefly refers to such contracts, stating that:

In practice, obligations under contracts that are equally proportionately
unperformed (for example, liabilities for inventory ordered but not yet received)
are generally not recognised as liabilities in the financial statements. However,
such obligations may meet the definition of liabilities and, provided the
recognition criteria are met in the particular circumstances, may qualify for
recognition.

The IASB thinks it could improve this guidance by explaining the nature of the
rights and obligations that arise under executory contracts and other forward
contracts and why those rights and obligations might not be recognised as an
asset or a liability. It proposes to clarify that:

(a) in principle, a net asset or a net liability arises under an executory
contract if the contract is enforceable.

(b) however, if the contract was priced on arm’s length terms, the initial
measurement of that contract would typically be zero because the rights
of one party have the same value as its obligations to the other party.
Accordingly, it is usually the case that neither party recognises a net
asset or a net liability at contract inception. After contract inception,
one or both parties may need to recognise its asset or liability, depending
on the measurement basis applied.

() the nature of the purchaser’s rights and obligations under an executory
contract or other forward contract may depend on the circumstances:

(1) in some cases, the purchaser might have a single net right or net
obligation to exchange the underlying asset and the purchase
price simultaneously. Often, that net right or net obligation
would be measured at zero, as explained in paragraph 3.111.

(i) in other cases, the purchaser might have a separate gross right to
receive the asset and a separate gross obligation to pay the
purchase price. In practice, such rights and obligations are
sometimes offset. The distinction between offsetting separate
assets and obligations, and having a single net right or net
obligation, is discussed in paragraph 3.13.
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To understand the effect of the decisions on whether to recognise rights and
obligations arising under executory contracts and forward contracts, it is worth
considering how those rights and obligations might be measured. Individual
Standards—rather than the Conceptual Framework—would continue to specify the
measurement requirements. In current practice, executory contracts and other
forward contracts are typically measured as follows:

(a) if the contract will result in the receipt by the entity of assets that will be
measured on a cost basis, the contract will be measured at zero, unless
the entity prepays for the assets or unless the contract is, or has become,
onerous:

(1) if the entity prepays for the assets, the contract is measured at
the amount paid, adjusted for any impairment loss (if the
contract has become onerous) and possibly also for the time value
of money (accretion of interest).

(i) if an executory contract has become onerous, that does not mean
that a new liability has arisen at that point. The liability arose
when the entity entered into the contract, but until it became
onerous it was measured at zero, which had the same practical
effect as non-recognition until that point.

(b) if the contract will result in the delivery by the entity of goods or
services, the contract will be measured at zero, unless the contract is, or
has become, onerous. If the counterparty prepays for the goods or
services, the contract is measured at that amount, adjusted if the
contract has become onerous and possibly also adjusted for the time
value of money (accretion of interest).

(0 if the contract will result in the receipt or delivery of financial
instruments that will be measured both initially and subsequently at fair
value, the contract will be measured at fair value.

In current practice, a forward contract is sometimes treated as equivalent to the
underlying asset or liability. For example, when trade date accounting is used
for some financial instruments, an entity accounts for the underlying financial
instrument as if it had already been delivered at the trade date. In contrast,
when settlement date accounting is used, an entity accounts for the forward
contract until delivery, and then accounts for the underlying financial
instrument from the delivery date. Strictly speaking, trade date accounting is
inconsistent with the concepts discussed in this Discussion Paper. The
purchaser’s asset is not the underlying asset, it is the right to receive the
underlying asset or, perhaps, depending on the circumstances, a single net right
and obligation to exchange cash for the underlying asset.
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Questions for respondents

Question 5

Constructive obligations are discussed in paragraphs 3.39-3.62. The discussion
considers the possibility of narrowing the definition of a liability to include only
obligations that are enforceable by legal or equivalent means. However, the IASB
tentatively favours retaining the existing definition, which encompasses both legal and
constructive obligations—and adding more guidance to help distinguish constructive
obligations from economic compulsion. The guidance would clarify the matters listed
in paragraph 3.50.

Do you agree with this preliminary view? Why or why not?

Question 6

The meaning of ‘present’ in the definition of a liability is discussed in paragraphs
3.63-3.97. A present obligation arises from past events. An obligation can be viewed as
having arisen from past events if the amount of the liability will be determined by
reference to benefits received, or activities conducted, by the entity before the end of the
reporting period. However, it is unclear whether such past events are sufficient to
create a present obligation if any requirement to transfer an economic resource remains
conditional on the entity’s future actions. Three different views on which the IASB
could develop guidance for the Conceptual Framework are put forward:

(a) View 1: a present obligation must have arisen from past events and be strictly
unconditional. An entity does not have a present obligation if it could, at least
in theory, avoid the transfer through its future actions.

(b) View 2: a present obligation must have arisen from past events and be practically
unconditional. An obligation is practically unconditional if the entity does not
have the practical ability to avoid the transfer through its future actions.

(c) View 3: a present obligation must have arisen from past events, but may be
conditional on the entity’s future actions.

The IASB has tentatively rejected View 1. However, it has not reached a preliminary
view in favour of View 2 or View 3.

Which of these views (or any other view on when a present obligation comes into
existence) do you support? Please give reasons.

Question 7

Do you have comments on any of the other guidance proposed in this section to support
the asset and liability definitions?
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Section 4—Recognition and derecognition

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

Recognition

Paragraph 4.37 of the existing Conceptual Framework defines recognition as
follows:

Recognition is the process of incorporating in the balance sheet or income
statement an item that meets the definition of an element and satisfies the criteria
for recognition set out in [the existing Conceptual Framework]. It involves the
depiction of the item in words and by a monetary amount and the inclusion of
that amount in the balance sheet or income statement totals.

In practice, questions about recognition (and derecognition) relate mainly to
assets and liabilities. Answers to those questions affect the statement of
financial position. They may also affect the timing of the recognition of income
and expense in the statement(s) of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income (OCI).

The recognition criteria set out in paragraph 4.38 of the existing Conceptual
Framework state that an entity recognises an item that meets the definition of an
element if:

(a) it is probable that any future economic benefit associated with the item
will flow to or from the entity; and

(b) the item has a cost or value that can be measured with reliability.

In addition, as with all other aspects of the existing Conceptual Framewotk, the cost
constraint applies. Thus, if the IASB concludes for a particular Standard that the
benefits of recognising a particular asset or liability do not justify the costs, the
IASB would not require its recognition (and to enhance comparability would
perhaps even prohibit its recognition).

Should an entity recognise all its assets and liabilities?

Part of the information that is useful to users of financial statements for their
decisions about providing resources to an entity is information about the
entity’s resources and obligations and about how efficiently and effectively the
entity’s management and governing board have discharged their responsibilities
to use the entity’s resources.?® The most understandable and concise way to
provide a complete summary of an entity’s resources and obligations is to
recognise them all in the statement of financial position, unless the IASB
identifies valid reasons to do otherwise.

The failure to recognise items that qualify for recognition is not rectified by
disclosure of the accounting policies used nor by notes or explanatory
material.?”

As noted in paragraph 4.3 of this Discussion Paper, the existing Conceptual
Framework includes recognition criteria. Because existing Standards are based on
the Conceptual Framework, they do not require entities to recognise all their assets

26 See paragraphs OB2-OB4 of the existing Conceptual Framework.

27 See paragraph 4.37 of the existing Conceptual Framework.
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and liabilities. This section discusses whether the revised Conceptual Framework
should include recognition criteria that refer to:

(a) probability (see paragraph 4.8);
(b) relevance and cost constraint (see paragraphs 4.9-4.11);
() faithful representation (see paragraphs 4.12-4.21); and

(d) the enhancing qualitative characteristics (comparability, verifiability,
timeliness, understandability) discussed in Chapter 3 of the Conceptual
Framework (see paragraphs 4.22-4.23).

Probability

As noted in paragraph 4.3 of this Discussion Paper, the existing criteria do not
result in recognition if it is not probable that any future economic benefit
associated with the item will flow to or from the entity. As explained in
paragraphs 2.17-2.36, the IASB believes that it should delete references to
probability from the recognition criteria in the Conceptual Framework.

Relevance and the cost constraint

Information is relevant to users of financial statements if it is capable of making
a difference in the decisions made by those users.?® In most cases, recognising
resources and obligations provides users of financial statements with relevant
information, but in some cases it may provide information that is not relevant,
or that is not sufficiently relevant to justify the cost:

(a) if the level of uncertainty in an estimate is too large, the relevance of that
estimate is questionable.?? In such circumstances, if no other available
measure of the asset or the liability would provide relevant information
to users of financial statements, it may be appropriate not to recognise
the asset or the liability. Some argue that this is the case for some
litigation, for at least some research and development projects and for
internally generated goodwill.

(b) recognising particular resources and obligations may produce
information that some may view as not relevant, incomplete or not
understandable if related resources and obligations are also not
recognised, or do not yet exist. For example, some argue that relevant
information does not result from recognising derivatives used to hedge
normal purchases of commodities used in a production process if the
underlying purchases have not yet been recognised. (However, others
argue that recognising such derivatives always or sometimes produces
relevant information, perhaps using techniques such as hedge
accounting if that makes the presentation of that information more
understandable.)

() currently, entities do not recognise internally generated goodwill,
although they do recognise goodwill acquired in a business combination.
As explained in paragraphs BC313-BC323 of the Basis for Conclusions on

28 See paragraph QC6 of the existing Conceptual Framework.

29 See paragraph QC16 of the existing Conceptual Framework.
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IFRS 3 Business Combinations, goodwill meets the definition of an asset.
That conclusion applies equally to internally generated goodwill and to
acquired goodwill. However, the IASB has concluded that recognising
internally generated goodwill is unnecessary to meet the objective of
financial statements. Financial statements are not designed to show the
value of a reporting entity.>® Measuring internally generated goodwill
would require an estimate of the value of the reporting entity.
Consequently, recognising internally generated goodwill does not
provide relevant information. In contrast, at the time of a business
combination, recognising the goodwill acquired depicts more
completely the economic resources acquired to be used by management,
and the economic resources transferred (or equity instruments delivered)
to the vendors.

(d) the benefits of measuring some internally-generated intangible assets
may not outweigh the costs if the resulting measures are not relevant to
users of financial statements, or if identifying those assets and
measuring them is too costly.

In the IASB’s preliminary view, the Conceptual Framework should state that the
IASB should not require the recognition of an asset or a liability if the IASB
concludes that recognising that asset or liability would result in information
that is irrelevant, or not sufficiently relevant to justify the cost of preparing it.

The Conceptual Framework is not a Standard, and does not override Standards.
Consequently, when a Standard requires the recognition of an asset or a liability,
a preparer could not use the recognition criteria in the Conceptual Framework to
override that requirement.

Faithful representation

The recognition criteria in the existing Conceptual Framework state that an entity
recognises an asset or a liability only if it has a cost or value that can be
measured with reliability. Before its revision in 2010, the Conceptual Framework
stated that information is reliable if it is free from material error and bias, and
users of financial statements can depend on it to represent faithfully what it
either purports to represent or could reasonably be expected to represent.
Paragraphs 35-38 of the pre-2010 Conceptual Framework explained that, to be
reliable, information must:

(a) account for, and present, transactions in accordance with their
substance and economic reality and not merely their legal form.

(b) be neutral, that is, free from bias. That version of the Conceptual
Framework also argued, under the heading of prudence, for a degree of
caution in the exercise of the judgements needed in making the
estimates required under conditions of uncertainty, such that assets or
income are not overstated and liabilities or expenses are not understated.

(c) be complete within the bounds of materiality and cost.

30 See paragraph OB7 of the existing Conceptual Framework.
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When the IASB revised the Conceptual Framework in 2010, it added to the
recognition criteria a footnote stating that information is reliable “when it is
complete, neutral and free from error”.?! Similarly, Chapter 3 of the Conceptual
Framework now states that a perfectly faithful representation would be complete,
neutral and free from error.*? Of course, perfection is seldom, if ever, achievable.
The IASB’s objective is to achieve as faithful a representation as possible:

(a) completeness might suggest that an entity should recognise all its
economic resources and obligations, unless the IASB identifies valid
reasons to do otherwise;

(b) neutrality might suggest that, unless the IASB identifies valid reasons to
do otherwise, the recognition criteria should apply symmetrically to
resources and to obligations, and that the criteria should apply
symmetrically, whether recognition results in a gain, a loss or no gain
and no loss; and

() freedom from error might suggest that an asset or a liability should not
be recognised if either the process of determining whether to recognise
that asset or liability, or its measurement, is likely to be unusually prone
to error, for example, if they depend on inputs that are unusually
difficult to estimate. In such cases, recognising the asset or the liability
may not result in relevant information.

The term ‘reliability’ no longer appears in the Conceptual Framework, although
much of the content of that concept is covered by the existing Conceptual
Framework’s fundamental characteristic of faithful representation and its
enhancing characteristic of verifiability. = Paragraphs BC3.23-BC3.24 and
BC3.34-BC3.36 of the Basis for Conclusions on the Conceptual Framework explain
that:

(a) the comments of respondents to numerous proposed Standards
indicated a lack of a common understanding of the term ‘reliability’.
Some focused on verifiability or free from material error to the virtual
exclusion of faithful representation. Others focused more on faithful
representation, perhaps combined with neutrality. Some apparently
thought that reliability referred primarily to precision.

(b) the term ‘faithful representation’ encompasses the main characteristics
that the former Conceptual Framework included as aspects of reliability.

() a lack of verifiability does not necessarily render information useless, but
users of financial statements are likely to be more cautious because there
is a greater risk that the information does not faithfully represent what
it purports to represent. Many forward-looking estimates cannot be
directly verified, but are important when providing relevant financial
information. Accordingly, the IASB positioned verifiability in the
existing Conceptual Framework not as an aspect of faithful representation,
but as an enhancing qualitative characteristic: very desirable but not
necessarily required.

31 See paragraph 4.38(b) of the existing Conceptual Framework.

32 See paragraph QC12 of the existing Conceptual Framework.
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Although the existing Conceptual Framework does not retain reliability as a
qualitative characteristic of useful financial information, it retains that notion
in the recognition criteria, and provides the following guidance in that context:

The second criterion for the recognition of an item is that it possesses a cost or
value that can be measured with reliability. In many cases, cost or value must be
estimated; the use of reasonable estimates is an essential part of the preparation of
financial statements and does not undermine their reliability. When, however, a
reasonable estimate cannot be made the item is not recognised in the balance
sheet or income statement. For example, the expected proceeds from a lawsuit
may meet the definitions of both an asset and income as well as the probability
criterion for recognition; however, if it is not possible for the claim to be measured
reliably, it should not be recognised as an asset or as income; the existence of the
claim, however, would be disclosed in the notes, explanatory material or
supplementary schedules.??

Because the existing Conceptual Framework no longer defines reliability, the
recognition criteria cannot retain that term. Paragraphs 4.17-4.21 of this
Discussion Paper consider whether the recognition criteria should include
anything corresponding to reliability, or to any other aspect of faithful
representation.

Under the existing recognition criteria, questions about reliability of
measurement arise if measurement uses significant estimates. Paragraph QC16
of the existing Conceptual Framework states that an estimate “can be a faithful
representation if the reporting entity has properly applied an appropriate
process, properly described the estimate and explained any uncertainties that
significantly affect the estimate. However, if the level of uncertainty in such an
estimate is sufficiently large, that estimate will not be particularly useful. In
other words, the relevance of the asset being faithfully represented is
questionable. If there is no alternative representation that is more faithful, that
estimate may provide the best available information.”

It follows that if a measure of an asset or a liability depends on estimates, the
questions for the IASB to consider in relation to recognition are:

(a) would that measure provide relevant information to users of financial
statements? If not, would some other measure provide relevant
information? If no available measure would provide relevant
information, or if the information would not be sufficiently relevant to
justify the cost of preparing it, paragraph 4.10 of this Discussion Paper
suggests that the asset or the liability should not be recognised.

(b) if a measure of an asset or a liability would provide relevant information
to users of financial statements, is it possible to represent that asset or
liability faithfully? If yes, what is the most faithful way to represent it:

(i) by recognising it (with supporting disclosure, if needed); or

(i) by not recognising it (with supporting disclosure, if needed)?

33 See paragraph 4.41 of the existing Conceptual Framework.
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When the IASB considers whether it is possible to provide a faithful
representation of a resource or obligation, the IASB needs to consider not just its
description and measurement on the face of the statement of financial position,
but also:

(a) related disclosures: a complete depiction includes all information
necessary for a user of financial statements to understand the
phenomenon being depicted, including all necessary descriptions and
explanations;** and

(b) the depiction of the resulting income and expense: for example, if an
entity acquires an asset in exchange for consideration, the failure to
recognise the asset would result in an expense and reduce the entity’s
profit and equity. In some cases, for example if the entity does not
consume the asset immediately, that result could provide a misleading
representation that the entity’s financial position has deteriorated.

As noted in paragraph 4.10 of this Discussion Paper, the IASB’s preliminary view
is that the IASB should not require the recognition of an asset or a liability if, in
the IASB’s view, recognition would result in information that is not relevant.
Some believe that there are no circumstances when recognising an asset or a
liability would provide information that is relevant but yet would not result in a
faithful representation of that asset or liability and of changes in that asset or
liability. Accordingly, in their view, there is no need for the recognition criteria
to refer separately to faithful representation. However, in the IASB’s preliminary
view, the recognition criteria should refer separately to faithful representation.
Thus, an entity should not recognise an asset or a liability if no measure of the
asset or the liability would result in a faithful representation of a resource or
obligation of the entity and of a change in its resources or obligations, even if all
necessary descriptions and explanations are disclosed.

When considering how to represent faithfully its recognised assets and
recognised liabilities, an entity would need to consider which measurement to
use, how to present the asset or the liability and what disclosures to provide
about it (see Sections 6-8).

Enhancing qualitative characteristics

The usefulness of financial information is enhanced if it is comparable,
verifiable, timely and understandable** These enhancing qualitative
characteristics have the following implications for recognition:

(a) unless the IASB identifies valid reasons to do otherwise, recognising an
entity’s assets or liabilities is likely to make the entity’s financial
statements more comparable and understandable, and to provide users
of financial statements with more timely information about the entity’s
resources and obligations and about changes in those resources and
obligations.

34 See paragraph QC13 of the existing Conceptual Framework.

35 See paragraph QC4 of the existing Conceptual Framework.
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(b) verifiability helps to assure users of financial statements that
information faithfully represents what it purports to represent.
Verifiability means that different knowledgeable and independent
observers could reach consensus, although not necessarily complete
agreement, that a particular depiction is a faithful representation.
Quantified information need not be a single-point estimate to be
verifiable. A range of possible amounts and the related probabilities can
also be verified.>®¢ However, as noted in paragraph 4.17 of this Discussion
Paper, if the level of uncertainty in an estimate is too large to permit
such observers to reach such a consensus, the estimate lacks verifiability
to such an extent that it may not result in relevant information. This
Discussion Paper identifies no separate role for verifiability in decisions
about recognition.

() on occasions, recognising an asset or a liability might, arguably, make
the statement of financial position less understandable if that asset or
liability is closely linked to another asset or liability that is unrecognised.
Disclosure might be needed in such cases.

This Discussion Paper identifies no need for recognition criteria relating to the
enhancing characteristics of comparability, verifiability, timeliness and
understandability.

Summary of preliminary views on recognition

In the IASB’s preliminary view, an entity should recognise all its assets and
liabilities, except as discussed in paragraphs 4.25-4.26. The failure to recognise
an asset or a liability is not rectified by disclosure of the accounting policies used
nor by the notes or explanatory material.?” If some assets or liabilities are not
recognised, the resulting depiction of the entity’s resources and obligations
would be incomplete and would thus provide a less faithful representation of
the entity’s financial position.

In the IASB’s preliminary view, the Conceptual Framework should state that the
IASB might decide in developing or revising particular Standards that an entity
need not, or should not, recognise an asset or a liability:

(a) if recognising the asset (or the liability) would provide users of financial
statements with information that is not relevant, or not sufficiently
relevant to justify the cost; or

(b) if no measure of the asset (or the liability) would result in a faithful
representation of the asset (or the liability) and of changes in the asset (or
the liability), even if all necessary descriptions and explanations are
disclosed.

The Conceptual Framework could provide further guidance to help the IASB to
assess when recognising an asset or a liability might not provide relevant
information. For example, such guidance could suggest that the following are
some indicators that recognition might not provide relevant information:

36 See paragraph QC26 of the existing Conceptual Framework.

37 See paragraph 4.37 of the existing Conceptual Framework.
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(a) if the range of possible outcomes is extremely wide and the likelihood of
each outcome is exceptionally difficult to estimate: this might be the
case in, for example, some major litigation.® In such cases, the most
relevant information for users of financial statements might relate to the
range of outcomes and the factors affecting their likelihoods. When that
information is relevant (and can be provided at a cost that does not
exceed the benefits), the entity should disclose that information,
regardless of whether the entity also recognises the asset or the liability.
However, in some cases, trying to capture that information in a single
number as a measure for recognition in the statement of financial
position may not provide any further relevant information.

(b) if an asset (or a liability) exists, but there is only a low probability that an
inflow (or outflow) of economic benefits will result: in some such cases,
the IASB might conclude that users of financial statements would be
unlikely to include information about that inflow (or outflow) directly in
their analysis. Moreover, in some such cases, measures of the resource or
obligation may be exceptionally sensitive to small changes in the
estimate of the probability and there may be little evidence to support
such estimates.

() if identifying the resource or obligation is unusually difficult: for
example, this may be the case for some intangible assets, particularly
some of those that are generated internally instead of being acquired in a
separate transaction.

(d) if measuring a resource or obligation requires unusually difficult or
exceptionally subjective allocations of cash flows that do not relate solely
to the item being measured.

(e) if recognising an asset is not necessary to meet the objective of financial
reporting. As noted in paragraph 4.9(c) of this Discussion Paper, this is
the case for internally generated goodwill.

To provide relevant information to users of financial statements, the IASB may
need to require disclosure about unrecognised assets or unrecognised liabilities,
including perhaps disclosure about the factors, specified by the IASB, that led
the IASB to conclude that recognition is not appropriate for those assets or
liabilities.

Derecognition

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments defines derecognition as the removal of a previously
recognised financial asset or financial liability from an entity’s statement of
financial position.

The existing Conceptual Framework does not define derecognition and does not
describe when derecognition should occur. Because there is no agreed
conceptual approach to derecognition, different Standards have adopted
different approaches. This risks causing inconsistency, with the further risk of
adopting rule-based approaches rather than principle-based approaches.

38 Litigation may also be subject to existence uncertainty, as discussed in Section 2.
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Paragraphs 4.31-4.51 deal with the following:
(a) consequences of derecognition (see paragraphs 4.31-4.33);
(b) the objective of derecognition (see paragraph 4.34);

() the control approach and the risks-and-rewards approach (see
paragraphs 4.35-4.44);

(d) full or partial derecognition (see paragraphs 4.45-4.49); and

(e) summary of preliminary views on derecognition (see paragraphs
4.50-4.51).

Consequences of derecognition

Derecognition has the following consequences:

(@) the entity no longer recognises the previously recognised asset or
liability;

(b) the entity may need to recognise other assets and liabilities that result
from the transaction or other event that gave rise to the derecognition;
and

(c) income or expense may arise from the derecognition of the previous

asset or liability and the recognition of any new asset or liability.

As noted in Section 3, many economic resources comprise a bundle of rights. An
entity would recognise, measure and present some of those rights separately if
such separation results in the most relevant information, and if the benefits of
the separation outweigh the costs. Similarly, when an entity transfers some
rights associated with a resource and retains others, it would derecognise the
rights that it no longer controls and continue to recognise the rights retained (ie
the rights it still controls). For example, a lessor no longer controls the right of
use transferred to the lessee but retains a residual interest in the underlying
leased item. How an entity should account for the rights it retains in such cases
is discussed in paragraphs 4.45-4.51 of this Discussion Paper.

When an asset or a liability is transferred between entities within a consolidated
group (a parent and its subsidiaries), the asset or the liability is still an asset or a
liability of the group as a whole. Accordingly, in consolidated financial
statements, the group continues to recognise the asset or the liability.

Approaches to derecognition

The aim of accounting requirements for a transaction that may result in
derecognition should be to represent faithfully both:

(a) the resources and obligations remaining after the transaction; and
(b) the changes in the resources and obligations as a result of the
transaction.

Achieving those twin aims is straightforward if an entity disposes of an entire
asset or an entire liability. In that case, derecognition represents faithfully two
facts: that the entity no longer has rights and obligations relating to that item,
and that a transaction or other event eliminated all the previous rights or
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obligations. Similarly, if an entity disposes of a proportion (say, 30 per cent) of
all features of an asset, derecognition of that 30 per cent will represent faithfully
that the entity retains 70 per cent of the asset and has disposed of 30 per cent of
it.

However, achieving that twin aim is more difficult if the entity retains a
component that exposes the entity disproportionately to the remaining risks or
rewards arising from the previously recognised asset or liability. There are two
approaches to derecognition in such cases:

(a) a control approach: derecognition is simply the mirror image of
recognition. Thus, an entity would derecognise an asset or a liability
when it no longer meets the criteria for recognition (or no longer exists,
or is no longer an asset or a liability of the entity). This implies that the
derecognition criteria for an asset would focus on the control of the asset
(rather than on legal ownership or on risks and rewards) and the
derecognition criteria for a liability would focus on whether the entity
still has the liability.

(b) a risk-and-rewards approach: an entity should continue to recognise an
asset or a liability until it is no longer exposed to most of the risks and
rewards generated by that asset or liability, even if the remaining asset
(or liability) would not qualify for recognition if acquired (or incurred)
separately at the date when the entity disposed of the other components.
Thus, whether an entity recognises an asset or a liability depends, in
some circumstances, on whether the entity previously recognised that
asset or liability. As a result, some use the labels ‘history matters’ or
‘stickiness’ for a risk-and-rewards approach.

Proponents of a control approach argue that it treats identical rights or
obligations in the same way, regardless of whether they were recognised
previously. Doing so may result in financial statements that depict an entity’s
economic resources and obligations more neutrally and thus more faithfully. It
may also enhance financial statements by making them more comparable. In
addition, unlike a risks-and-rewards approach, it avoids the need to determine
whether the entity has transferred sufficient risks and rewards to derecognise
the asset or the liability.

Proponents of a risks-and-rewards approach focus on cases such as the following,
where they believe that derecognition would not faithfully represent the change
in circumstances:

(a) a significant reduction in recognised assets or liabilities with no
significant decrease in the risks borne by the entity, for example, when
an entity transfers a receivable but guarantees the purchaser against all
or most of the future loan losses arising from that asset (see Example
4.1); and

(b) revenue, or a gain, that arises on delivering an asset that may or must be
returned to the vendor through means such as a forward contract (see
Example 4.2), written put option, purchased call option or lease.
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Example 4.1 illustrates a case in which an entity sells an asset but retains some
of the risk through a guarantee.

Example 4.1: sale of receivables with partial recourse3®

Fact pattern

Entity A controls receivables with a carrying amount of CU1,000 and a fair
value of CU1,000.@ It sells the receivables to Bank B for cash of CU1,050.
Entity A guarantees Bank B against any losses that Bank B suffers above
CU140. The fair value of the guarantee is CU50.

Applying a control approach

Under a control approach, Entity A would first assess whether Bank B is
holding the receivables as agent for Entity A (see paragraphs 3.31-3.32). If
Entity A concludes that Bank B is holding the receivables as agent, Entity A
would continue to recognise the receivables, measured at CU1,000. Entity A
would also recognise cash of CU1,050 and a deposit liability of CU1,050.

If Entity A concludes that Bank B is holding the receivables as principal,
Entity A would derecognise the receivables, recognising cash of CU1,050 and
a guarantee liability of CU50. Entity A reports the guarantee liability in the
same way as if it had issued a stand-alone guarantee of loans that it had
never previously controlled.

Applying a risks-and-rewards approach

Under a risks-and-rewards approach, assume that Entity A has retained
sufficient risks and rewards that it concludes that derecognition would not
occur. Entity A would continue to recognise the receivables at CU1,000, and
would recognise cash of CU1,050 and a deposit liability of CU1,050.
Measuring the receivables at CU1,000 depicts the fact that Entity A is still
exposed to some of the credit risk arising from the receivables. However, the
transaction eliminated Entity’s A exposure to losses below CU140.
Continuing to measure the receivables at CU1,000 would not depict the
reduction in risk.

(a) In this Discussion Paper, curreny amounts are denominated in ‘currency untis’
(CU).

Example 4.2 illustrates a sale combined with a repurchase.

39 As explained in paragraphs 1.22 and 1.24, this Discussion Paper includes examples to illustrate the
problems that the IASB is seeking to address. The IASB will not necessarily amend existing
requirements for the transactions illustrated in the examples.
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Example 4.2: sale of a bond with repurchase agreement

Fact pattern

Entity C controls a quoted zero coupon bond with a carrying amount of CU800
(amortised cost, with an effective interest rate of 5 per cent) and a fair value of CU1,000
(reflecting a market interest rate of 4 per cent). It sells the bond to Bank D for cash of
CU1,000, and contracts to buy back the bond for CU1,045 after 12 months (the
difference of CU45 reflects market interest rates today for a loan secured by such a
bond). Assume that the fair value of Entity C’s commitment to repurchase the bond is
nil.

Applying a control approach

Under a control approach, Entity C would first assess whether Bank D is holding the
bond as agent for Entity C (see paragraphs 3.31-3.32). If Entity C determines that Bank
D is acting as agent, Entity C would conclude that it retains control of the bond and
would:

° continue to recognise the bond at CU800, both before and after the repurchase
(and would accrue interest on the bond at 5 per cent);

° recognise cash of CU1,000; and
° recognise a deposit liability of CU1,000, repayable in 12 months with interest at
4.5 per cent.

If Entity C concludes that Bank D holds the bond as principal, not as agent, it would
derecognise the bond, recognising:

° cash of CU1,000;
° a repurchase obligation, measured at nil in this fact pattern; and
° a gain of CU200.

On repurchasing the bond, Entity C would recognise the bond and measure it at
CU1,045. It would derecognise the repurchase obligation.

If Bank D holds the bond as principal, the consequence of the control approach is that
Entity C reports assets and liabilities that are comparable with those that Entity C would
have reported for a stand-alone forward contract to buy the bond for CU1,045 in 12
months.

Applying a risks-and-rewards approach

Under a risks-and-rewards approach, assume that Entity C has retained sufficient risks
and rewards that it concludes that derecognition would not occur. Entity C would
account for the bond in the same way as if it concluded that Bank D holds the bond as
agent.

Arguably, when Entity C concludes that Bank D is holding the bond as principal, the
risks-and-rewards approach portrays more clearly than the control approach the fact
that that the transaction had virtually no effect on the amount, timing and uncertainty
of Entity C’s cash flows, other than receiving cash of CU1,000 and repaying it a year
later with interest.
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As Examples 4.1-4.2 illustrate, there are two main sources of concern in
decisions about derecognition:

(@) in some cases, derecognition results in smaller amounts in the statement
of financial position, even though the entity is still exposed to risks of
similar magnitude. In Example 4.1, derecognition would mean that
Entity A no longer recognises its receivables (previously carried at
CU1,000) even though it is still exposed to much of the credit risk arising
from those receivables. Entity A would need to communicate, by
appropriate presentation and disclosure, that the guarantee measured at
only CU50 still exposes Entity A to much of the credit risk inherent in
the receivables (see paragraph 4.43 of this Discussion Paper for one
possible approach to communicating this information).

(b) in some cases, derecognition produces a gain or loss that would not arise
at that time if the entity treated the cash received as arising from a
financing transaction. In Example 4.2, Entity C recognises a gain if it
derecognises the bond, and it subsequently measures the reacquired
bond at more than its original cost.

Continuing recognition would not be the only possible solution to the concerns
that Examples 4.1 and 4.2 illustrate—see paragraphs 4.43-4.44 for other possible
solutions.

The concern in Example 4.1 arises because derivatives (such as the guarantee in
Example 4.1) are more highly leveraged than cash instruments, such as loans. In
other words, they expose entities to more concentrated risks than cash
instruments do. One solution would be to change the accounting for all
derivatives to show that extra leverage more directly. For instance, in
Example 4.1, the issuer of such a guarantee might present receivables of
CU1,000 and a deposit liability of CU1,050, rather than just a guarantee liability
of CU50. If that treatment applied to all guarantees, not just those retained in a
transfer, that would eliminate the pressure for continuing recognition in
Example 4.1. However, it is not clear that the receivable reported under such an
approach would meet the definition of an asset.

The concern in Example 4.2 arises when a sale-and-repurchase agreement could
be used to recognise a gain (or perhaps a loss) that would not arise at that time if
the entity continued to hold the asset or the liability. That could occur when
assets or liabilities are measured on a basis that differs from the price for which
they could be transferred to another party. One solution to that concern would
be to measure all assets and liabilities at fair value (or perhaps fair value less
costs to sell). However, as explained in Section 6, the IASB’s preliminary view is
that measuring all assets and liabilities on that basis in all circumstances would
not provide users of financial statements with the most relevant information.

Full or partial derecognition?

The discussion in paragraphs 4.35-4.44 of this Discussion Paper considered
whether derecognition should occur when a transaction eliminates some but
not all of the rights and obligations contained in an asset (or a liability). If
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derecognition does occur, a related question is how to account for the rights and
obligations retained. Two approaches might be considered in such cases:

(a) full derecognition: derecognise the entire asset (or liability) and
recognise the retained component as a new asset (or liability). If the
carrying amount of the retained component differs from its previous
carrying amount, a gain or loss will arise on that component.

(b) partial derecognition: continue to recognise the retained component and
derecognise the component that is not retained. On the retained
component, no gain will arise and, unless that component is impaired,
no loss will arise.

4.46 The following are two examples where this question arises:

(a) when the terms of existing rights or obligations are changed by an
agreement between two parties to amend a contract or by a change in
the law. The modification may eliminate some of the existing rights or
obligations and it may create new rights or obligations.

(b) in a sale-and-leaseback transaction, as illustrated in Example 4.3.

Example 4.3: sale-and-leaseback transactions

Fact pattern

Entity E controls a machine that has a remaining useful life of 10 years and a
carrying amount of CU800. Entity E sells the machine to Lessor F for its fair
value of CU1,000, and Lessor F simultaneously leases the machine back to
Entity E for the first 6 years for lease rentals at a current market rate. Those
rentals have a present value of CU600.

Applying a full derecognition approach
If Entity E derecognises the entire machine, it will:

° recognise a new asset: the right to use the machine for years 1-6,
measured at CU600;

° recognise the lease obligation, measured at CU600;
° recognise cash of CU1,000; and
° recognise a gain of CU200 on disposal of the machine.

continued...
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...continued

4.47

4.48

4.49

4.50

Applying a partial derecognition approach
If Entity E derecognises only part of the machine, it will:

° continue to recognise the retained component of the asset: the right
to use the machine for years 1-6. For this example, assume that the
retained component is measured at CU480 = CU800 x (6+10).

° derecognise the right to use the machine from years 7-10,
recognising a gain of CU80 = (CU1,000 - CU800) x (4+10).

° recognise a deposit liability, measured at CU600.

° recognise cash of CU1,000.

In Example 4.3, the full and the partial derecognition approaches result in
different measures of the retained component. In addition, the full
derecognition approach may result in the recognition of a gain or loss on the
retained component. In contrast, the partial derecognition approach results in
no gain or loss on the retained component (although the entity would generally
need to test the retained component for impairment). It is likely that the IASB
would need to decide whether to apply a full derecognition approach or a partial
derecognition approach when it develops or revises particular Standards,
because that decision depends on the unit of account. Paragraphs 9.35-9.41
include a discussion of unit of account and explain the IASB’s preliminary view
that determining the unit of account is a decision that it would need to take
when developing or revising particular Standards.

In sale-and-leaseback transactions, the IASB’s proposals in its Exposure Draft
Leases, published in May 2013, together with the conclusions it is expected to
reach in its forthcoming Standard on revenue recognition, would typically lead
to either no derecognition or full derecognition.

One other factor to be considered in such transactions is whether the
component retained should be regarded as continuing to be a component of the
original asset, or whether its character has changed so much that it should be
regarded as an entirely new asset. For example, if the new asset exposes the
holder to significant credit risk that was not present in the original asset, it may
be more appropriate to regard it as a new asset, rather than as a retained
component of the original asset.

Summary of preliminary views on derecognition

The derecognition criteria need to reflect how best to portray both an entity’s
rights and obligations and changes in those rights and obligations. In most
cases, an entity will achieve this by derecognising an asset or a liability when it
no longer meets the recognition criteria (or no longer exists, or is no longer an
asset or a liability of the entity). However, if the entity retains a component of
the asset or the liability, the IASB should determine, when developing or
revising particular Standards, how the entity would best portray the changes
that resulted from the transaction. Possible approaches include:

(@) enhanced disclosure;
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(b) presenting any rights or obligations retained on a line item different
from the line item that was used for the original rights or obligations, to
highlight the greater concentration of risk; or

() continuing to recognise the original asset or liability, and treating the
proceeds received or paid for the transfer as a loan received or granted.

4.51 It would also be a decision when developing or revising particular Standards,
depending on the unit of account as discussed in paragraphs 9.35-9.41, to
determine which of the following approaches to use if an entity retains
components of an asset or a liability when derecognition occurs:

(a) full derecognition approach: derecognise the entire asset or liability and
recognise a new asset or liability; or

(b) partial derecognition approach: continue to recognise the components
retained.

Questions for respondents

Question 8

Paragraphs 4.1-4.27 discuss recognition criteria. In the IASB’s preliminary view, an
entity should recognise all its assets and liabilities, unless the IASB decides when
developing or revising a particular Standard that an entity need not, or should not,
recognise an asset or a liability because:

(a) recognising the asset (or the liability) would provide users of financial
statements with information that is not relevant, or is not sufficiently relevant
to justify the cost; or

(b) no measure of the asset (or the liability) would result in a faithful representation
of both the asset (or the liability) and the changes in the asset (or the liability),
even if all necessary descriptions and explanations are disclosed.

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you do not agree, what changes do you suggest, and
why?
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Question 9

In the IASB’s preliminary view, as set out in paragraphs 4.28-4.51, an entity should
derecognise an asset or a liability when it no longer meets the recognition criteria.
(This is the control approach described in paragraph 4.36(a)). However, if the entity
retains a component of an asset or a liability, the IASB should determine when
developing or revising particular Standards how the entity would best portray the
changes that resulted from the transaction. Possible approaches include:

(a) enhanced disclosure;

(b) presenting any rights or obligations retained on a line item different from the
line item that was used for the original rights or obligations, to highlight the
greater concentration of risk; or

() continuing to recognise the original asset or liability and treating the proceeds
received or paid for the transfer as a loan received or granted.

Do you agree? Why or why not? If you do not agree, what changes do you suggest, and
why?
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Section 5—Definition of equity and distinction between liabilities
and equity instruments

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

5.5

5.6

5.7

Introduction

This section discusses:

(a) the definition of equity, including the measurement and presentation of
different classes of equity (see paragraphs 5.2-5.21); and

(b) whether the distinction between liabilities and equity instruments
should be based solely on the definition of a liability (see paragraphs
5.22-5.59).

Definition of equity

The existing Conceptual Framework defines ‘equity’ as the residual interest in the
assets of the entity after deducting all its liabilities.*® The IASB’s preliminary
view is that it should not change that definition.

Total equity equals total assets, less total liabilities, as recognised and measured
in the financial statements. It does not depict the value of the entity.

Total equity at the end of a period generally equals:

(a) total equity at the start of the period (restated, if applicable, for changes
in accounting policies, and to correct previous errors); plus

(b) contributions to equity in the period; minus

() distributions of equity in the period; plus

(d) comprehensive income for the period; plus

(e) capital maintenance adjustments, if applicable (see Section 9).

Typically, entities divide total equity into various categories. IFRS does not
generally prescribe which categories of equity an entity should present
separately, because determining which categories are most relevant to users of
financial statements may depend on local legislation and on the reporting
entity’s governing constitution. Similarly, IFRS does not generally specify the
categories of equity in which an entity should present the effects of particular
transactions, measurements or other events. IAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements requires an entity to disclose a description of the nature and purpose
of each reserve within equity.

In most cases, total equity is positive, though it can also be negative, depending
on whether all assets and liabilities are recognised and on how recognised assets
and liabilities are measured. Similarly, the individual categories of equity may
be positive or negative.

This Discussion Paper uses the following terms for convenience, without
defining them formally:

40 See paragraph 4.4(c) of the existing Conceptual Framework.
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(a) equity claim: a present claim on the equity of an entity (ie a residual
interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all its liabilities). For
the purposes of this Discussion Paper, an equity claim is either a primary
equity claim or a secondary equity claim.

(b) primary equity claim: a present right to share in distributions of equity
during the life of the reporting entity or on liquidation.

() secondary equity claim: a present right or a present obligation to receive or
deliver another equity claim.

(d) equity instrument: an issued financial instrument that creates equity
claims and creates no liability.*!

5.8 Examples of equity instruments include:
(a) equity instruments that create primary equity claims, including:
(1) ordinary shares;
(ii) other classes of shares (for example, some preferred shares, some

deferred shares); and

(iii) non-controlling interests (NCI) in a subsidiary.

(b) equity instruments that create secondary equity claims, including:
(i) forward contracts to buy, sell or issue an entity’s own shares; and
(i) options to buy or sell an entity’s own shares.

() an equity component of a financial instrument that contains both an

equity component and a liability component, if an entity is required or
permitted to separate those components. IAS 32 Financial Instruments:
Presentation requires such separation in some cases. As noted in
paragraph 5.54, identifying whether and when to permit, require or
prohibit such separation would be a decision for the IASB to make when
it develops or revises particular Standards, rather than for the Conceptual
Framework.

5.9 Whether a financial instrument or other contract creates a liability depends not
on the legal form of the contract, but on whether the contract creates a present
obligation of the entity to transfer an economic resource as a result of a past
event.

5.10 Paragraphs 5.11-5.21 discuss:
(a) classes of equity claim (see paragraphs 5.11-5.17);
(b) measuring equity claims (see paragraphs 5.18-5.20); and

() non-controlling interests (see paragraph 5.21).

41 1AS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation defines an equity instrument as “any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities”.
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Classes of equity claim

5.11 Existing and potential investors need information to help them assess the
prospects for future net cash inflows to an entity.*?> In addition, information
about priorities and payment requirements of existing claims helps users of
financial statements to predict how future cash flows will be distributed among
those with a claim against the entity.*® In other words, existing and potential
investors need information about both:

(a) the future net cash inflows to the entity (cash inflows less cash outflows);
and
(b) the claims that determine how those net cash inflows will be distributed

among holders of different claims.

5.12 To meet those needs, this Discussion Paper explores an approach in which an
entity would provide the following:

(a) information to help investors assess the amount, timing and uncertainty
of future net cash inflows to the entity: in the statements of financial
position, profit or loss and other comprehensive income (OCI), and cash
flows, and in the notes; and

(b) information about the claims on those net cash inflows: in the statement
of financial position and the statement of changes in equity. These
statements, with related notes, should be designed in a way to enable
equity holders to understand:

(1) how their own equity claims are affected at the end of the period
by other classes of equity claims; and

(i) the changes during the period in the effect of those other classes
of equity claims. Those changes are described in paragraph 5.13
as wealth transfers between different classes of equity claims.

5.13 This could be achieved by designing the statement of changes in equity in the
following way:

(a) the statement of changes in equity would display a separate column for
each class of equity claim. An entity would include equity claims within
the same class if they have the same (or perhaps similar) rights.

(b) the column for each class of equity claim would be sub-divided (on the
face of the statement or in the notes), if applicable, into categories on a
basis consistent with legal and other requirements governing the entity.
Depending on those requirements, examples of such categories might
include share capital, retained earnings and reserves.

42 See paragraph OB3 of the existing Conceptual Framework.
43 See paragraph OB13 of the existing Conceptual Framework.
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an entity would, at the end of each period, update the measurement of
each class of equity claim. This would update the allocation of total
equity between the classes of equity claim, but would not affect total
equity. Which measurements might be appropriate for this purpose is
discussed in paragraphs 5.18-5.20.

updating measurements of different classes of equity claim would result
in transfers between the amounts of recognised net assets (assets less
liabilities) attributed to those classes. These represent transfers of wealth
between those classes. In other words, they show how each class of
equity claim diluted the net assets attributable to other classes of equity
claim during the period. Currently, financial statements do not
necessarily provide this information.

The Conceptual Framework would not prescribe a specific format for the statement
of changes in equity, and would not provide an illustration of a format.
Example C2 in Appendix C illustrates a statement designed in this way, as does
Example 5.1.

The following points are worth making about Example 5.1:

(@)

the entity (Entity A) in the example has three classes of equity claim:
existing shareholders of the parent, NCI and holders of an option written
by Entity A.

Entity A wrote the option on 17 January 20X2 in exchange for an option
premium of CU5,000 paid in cash on that date. That amount was the fair
value of the option at that date. If the holder exercises that option,
Entity A must issue its own shares in exchange for a cash payment of
CU1,500 by the holder.

on 31 December 20X2, Entity A updates the measurement of the option
to its fair value of CU4,000, recognising CU1,000 (CU5,000 — CU4,000) as
a wealth transfer from option holders to existing shareholders of the
parent. For illustration purposes, Example 5.1 assumes that the wealth
transfers are recognised in retained earnings.

the subtotal ‘change in net assets’ summarises the change in equity
attributable to each class of equity shareholders as a result of
comprehensive income for the year, together with wealth transfers to or
from other classes of equity claim.

immediately before exercise of the option on 15 December 20X3, its fair
value has declined by a further CU800 to CU3,200. Entity A recognises a
further wealth transfer of CU800 in 20X3 to depict this decline.

when the option holder exercises the option, Entity A receives CU1,500
from the option holder and fulfils its obligation to the option holder by
issuing new shares. For illustration purposes, Example 5.1 assumes that
the new shares are recognised in share capital.
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Many commentators have stated that IFRS does not currently update measures
of items classified as equity instruments. However, that is only partly true:

(@) IFRS generally does not permit entities to update measures of equity
instruments through profit or loss. There is no existing obstacle to
updating those measures through equity (and reporting the resulting
changes as transfers within the statement of changes in equity).

requires entities to update measures o or the s share in
b IFRS requi iti pd f NCI for the NCI's share i
profit or loss, in OCI and in other equity movements.

Standards do not currently contain a requirement to update measures of equity
claims through the statement of changes in equity. Such a requirement would
achieve two objectives:

(a) it would give equity holders a clearer and more systematic view of how
other equity claims affect them; and

(b) as discussed in paragraphs 5.22-5.59, it would provide a way to resolve
some liability/equity classification issues that have proved problematic
over the years.

Measuring equity claims

If the IASB decided to introduce a requirement to measure equity claims, it
would need to determine when it develops or revises particular Standards what
measurement to use for particular classes of equity claim, considering how best
to convey how the claims of that class affect the holders of other classes. For
example, the IASB might decide:

(a) to use an allocation of the underlying net assets as the measurement of
primary equity claims. As an example, this basis is currently used for
NCI. If an entity has more than one class of equity claim, the allocation
would reflect the relative priorities of their claims against the total
equity that is attributable to holders of all primary equity claims. If
those relative priorities would vary across different future
circumstances, the allocation would need to consider those variations.
An entity would not measure primary equity claims by reference to
estimates of the cash flows that holders of those claims will receive
because such measures would, in effect, require a measurement of the
entity as a whole. As explained in paragraph OB7 of the existing
Conceptual Framework, showing the value of the entity as a whole is not the
objective of general purpose financial statements.

(b) to measure secondary equity claims in the same manner as an entity
would measure a comparable financial liability, for example:

(1) to use amortised cost for a class of secondary equity claims if
those claims confer a right to deliver or receive, at a fixed date,
equity instruments that have a fixed total value; and

(ii) to use fair value for a class of secondary equity claims if those
claims confer a right to deliver or receive equity instruments that
have a total value that varies because of changes in a price, index
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or other variable (perhaps other than the price of the issuer’s own
equity instruments or its own financial liabilities).

Regardless of the method used to measure equity claims, updating the
measurement of those claims would not change total equity, it would simply
reallocate total equity between the classes of equity claim. Updating the amount
allocated to one class of equity claim causes an offsetting change in the amount
allocated to one or more other classes of equity claim.

This Discussion Paper uses the term ‘wealth transfer’ to describe the
reallocations between different classes of equity claim in the statement of
changes in equity. Those reallocations depict the change during the period in
the allocation of total equity between different classes. That change arises
because different classes have different types of interest in equity. Those wealth
transfers are not income and expense. They do not change total equity, but are
akin to contributions of equity by one or more classes and equal distributions of
equity to other classes.

Non-controlling interests

The approach described in paragraphs 5.12-5.14 is largely consistent with, and
an extension of, the way in which IFRS treats NCI in a subsidiary. NCI does not
meet the existing or proposed definition of a liability, because the entity has no
obligation to transfer economic resources. Consequently, IFRS treats NCI as part
of equity, not as a liability. IAS 1 already requires entities to display prominently
the NCI’s share in equity, in profit or loss and in comprehensive income. An
entity would display changes in NCI separately in the statement of changes in
equity (for example, as a separate column). The treatment described in
paragraphs 5.12-5.14 would extend that requirement for a prominent display to
all other categories of equity instrument.

Distinguishing liabilities from equity instruments

This section discusses how to apply the definitions of a liability and of equity in
distinguishing between liabilities and equity instruments. This distinction
currently has several effects:

(a) the two categories are classified separately in the statement of financial
position. If distinguished strictly in accordance with the definition of a
liability in the existing Conceptual Framework, the classification would
distinguish items that oblige the entity to deliver cash or other economic
resources from items that create no such obligation.

(b) the statement(s) of profit or loss and OCI:

(i) include(s) income and expenses arising from liabilities (interest
and, if applicable, remeasurement and gain or loss on
settlement);

(i) do(es) not report as income or expense the changes, if any, in the

carrying amount of the entity’s own equity instruments; and

(iii) include(s) expenses arising from the consumption of services
acquired in exchange for financial liabilities or equity
instruments (IFRS 2 Share-based Payment).
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() in the statement of financial position:

(i) the carrying amount of many financial liabilities changes with
the passage of time (and for other factors, if the liability is
measured at fair value); and

(i) the amount reported for particular classes of equity instruments
typically does not, under current practice, change after initial
recognition (except for NCI).

(d) the statement of changes in equity:

(i) includes comprehensive income and thus includes implicitly the
related change in the carrying amount of assets less liabilities.
Thus it shows, albeit implicitly, how those liabilities affect the
returns to equity holders.

(ii) shows NCI's share of comprehensive income and NCI’s interest in
recognised net assets.

(iii) does not currently show how changes in the value of each class of
equity claim (other than NCI) affect the value of, or possible
returns to, more subordinated (lower-ranking) classes of equity.
Thus, it does not currently show wealth transfers between
different classes of equity holder.

The distinction between financial liabilities and equity instruments is currently
governed by IAS 32 and IFRS 2. IAS 32 is supplemented by IFRIC 2 Members’ Shares
in Co-operative Entities and Similar Instruments. In both IAS 32 and IFRS 2, the
starting point is to determine whether the entity has an obligation to transfer
economic resources, but there are exceptions to that basic principle. Table 5.1 is
a highly condensed summary of the approaches.

As Table 5.1 shows, the distinction in IFRS 2 (between cash-settled and
equity-settled share-based payment transactions) relies almost entirely on the
existing definition of a liability in the Conceptual Framework. IFRS 2 makes one
adjustment to that definition, to address transactions for which the obligation
rests with another group entity or other related party. In contrast, IAS 32
overrides that definition with complex exceptions for:

(a) some obligations that require an entity to deliver its own equity
instruments, or that permit an entity to elect to deliver its own equity
instruments instead of delivering cash or other economic resources (see
paragraphs 5.28-5.54);

(b) some puttable instruments (see paragraphs 5.55-5.59); and

(c) some obligations payable on liquidation. Section 3 suggests that no
liability results from payments that would arise only on liquidation. It
follows that relative priorities on liquidation of the reporting entity
would play no role in determining whether instruments are classified as
financial liabilities or as equity instruments. This conclusion applies
even if the reporting entity has a predetermined limited life (or even if
another party can compel liquidation). However, that conclusion may
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not be appropriate in consolidated financial statements for obligations
that would become payable on liquidation of a consolidated subsidiary
before liquidation of the parent.
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Table 5.1 summary of classification under IAS 32 and IFRS 2

IAS 32

Liabilities ° obligation to deliver cash or obligation to
another financial asset.® transfer cash

° obligation (in a derivative or or other
non-derivative) to deliver a assets.
variable number of the
entity’s own equity
instruments.

° obligation (in a derivative
only) that may or must be
settled by exchanging a fixed
number of the entity’s own
equity instruments for a
variable amount of cash or
other financial assets.

° derivative obligation that
allows either the holder or
issuer to elect whether the
holder is to settle in cash or in
shares.

Equity ° no obligation to deliver cash no obligation
or other financial assets (and to transfer
none of the above features cash or other
present). assets.

° some puttable instruments no obligation
that entitle the holder to a for the entity
pro rata share of net assets on at all because
liquidation, or earlier another group
repurchase. entity or other

° obligation to deliver a pro rata re_lated party
share of net assets only on w1l¥ set.tle the
liquidation of the entity. obligation.

° derivative that must be settled

by exchanging a fixed number
of the entity’s own equity
instruments for a fixed
amount of cash or other
financial assets.

(a) or to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities under conditions that are
potentially unfavourable.
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In their joint project on financial instruments with characteristics of equity
(FICE), which was suspended in 2010, the IASB and the US Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB) had tentatively decided to use an approach that
classifies, as IAS 32 does:

(a) some instruments as equity instruments, even though they create
obligations to transfer economic resources; and

(b) some other instruments as financial liabilities, even though they create
no obligations to transfer economic resources.

Thus, the approaches in both IAS 32 and the FICE project may be viewed as
overriding the definition of a liability in the existing Conceptual Framework with
several exceptions. Such approaches have significant disadvantages:

(a) the exceptions are complex, difficult to understand and difficult to
apply, as evidenced by a stream of requests for Interpretations.

(b) inconsistency with the definitions in the Conceptual Framework makes
financial statements less internally consistent and, as a result, less
understandable and less comparable.

() inconsistencies in approach may create opportunities to structure
transactions to achieve a more favourable accounting result without
changing the economics of a transaction significantly.

(d) the approach is not fully consistent with the approach used for
share-based payments in IFRS 2. This reduces comparability, creates
further opportunities for structuring, and makes it more important to
establish whether particular obligations are within the scope of IAS 32 or
within the scope of IFRS 2.

(e) further inconsistencies arise because under IFRS 2, cash-settled
transactions are remeasured but equity-settled transactions are not
remeasured. This puts pressure on the distinction between those two
types of settlement. It also means that investors receive different
information about how those transactions affect their own investments,
depending on the form of settlement.

Whether there is a conceptual basis for the exceptions developed in IAS 32 and
the FICE project, and whether those exceptions indicate a need to amend the
Conceptual Framework’s definitions of liability and equity, is discussed in
paragraphs 5.28-5.59. Specifically, the paragraphs cover:

(a) obligations to deliver equity instruments (see paragraphs 5.28-5.44).

(b) other approaches considered (see paragraphs 5.45-5.52).

() other factors that would need to be considered in applying the concepts
when developing or revising particular Standards (see paragraphs
5.53-5.54).

(d) whether the Conceptual Framework should indicate that an entity should

treat some puttable instruments as equity, even though the issuer has an
obligation to transfer cash or other economic resources if the holder so
requests (see paragraphs 5.55-5.59).
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Obligations to deliver equity instruments

An equity instrument is not an economic resource of the issuer. Accordingly, an
obligation for an entity to deliver its own equity instruments is not an obligation
to deliver economic resources. Hence, it does not meet the current or proposed
definition of a liability. Such an obligation is one form of a ‘secondary equity
claim’, as described in paragraph 5.7(c).

IAS 32 classifies some equity claims as liabilities and others as equity
instruments. It classifies them as liabilities if an entity uses its own equity
instruments ‘as currency’ in a contract to receive or deliver a variable number of
shares whose value equals a fixed amount or an amount based on changes in an
underlying variable (for example, a commodity price). The Basis for Conclusions
on IAS 32 explains that the IASB adopted this approach for the following
reasons:

(@) the entity has an obligation for a specified amount rather than a
specified equity interest. For such a contract, the entity does not know,
before the transaction is settled, how many of its own shares (or how
much cash) it will receive or deliver and it may not even know whether it
will receive its own shares or deliver them.

(b) precluding equity treatment for such a contract limits incentives for
structuring potentially favourable or unfavourable transactions to
obtain equity treatment. For example, the IASB believed that an entity
should not obtain equity treatment for a transaction simply by including
a share settlement clause when the contract is for a specified value,
rather than for a specified equity interest.

This Discussion Paper identifies two approaches that could simplify the
distinction between liabilities and equity: a narrow equity approach and a strict
obligation approach. The narrow equity approach would:

(@) classify as equity only existing equity instruments in the most residual
existing class of equity instrument issued by the parent. (Definin